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E I Ernst & Young (Sharjah Branch) Tel: +9716 574 1491

P.O. Box 1350 ey.com
Building a better City Gate Tower, Office No. 1402
working world Al Ittihad Street

Sharjah, United Arab Emirates PL No. 2845

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GULF CEMENT COMPANY P.S.C.

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Gulf Cement Company P.S.C. (the “Company”), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the statements of profit or
loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
for the year then then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2022, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(*IFRS”).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAS”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (the “IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in the United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
the audit of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context
of the audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming the auditor’s opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. We have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
financial statements.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GULF CEMENT COMPANY P.S.C. (continued)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Company has property, plant and equipment
(*PPE”) amounting to AED 659.4 million as of
31 December 2022. A history of recurrent gross
and net losses have led to indicators of
impairment.

During 2022, management estimated the
recoverable amount of its PPE being the higher
of fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”)
and value in use (“VIU”). VIU was assessed by
the management through the assistance of an
external valuer. Management has concluded that
since the VIU is higher than the carrying amount
of the PPE, hence no impairment provision was
required for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Since significant judgement, assumptions and
estimation uncertainty is involved in assessing
the impairment, we have identified this as a key
audit matter.

Note 10 to the financial statements includes

relevant disclosures and note 4 includes key
source of estimation uncertainty.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures to test the impairment analysis
performed by the Company included the
following

=  We examined the methodology to assess
the VIU of the PPE in accordance with
International ~ Financial ~ Reporting
Standards (IFRS).

= We evaluated the appropriateness of the
assumptions and judgments used
including input data used to estimate the
cash flow forecasts.

= We evaluated the reasonableness of
management’s forecasts for (a) annual
revenue growth rates, (b) Gross margins,
(c) Terminal growth rate, (d) operating
expenses, (e) Capital expenditures, and
(f) working capital changes by
comparing the forecasts to (1) the
historical operating results (2) internal
communications to management and the
Board of Directors.

= We evaluated the external valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity
including the scope of the engagement.

= We verified the appropriateness of the
computation of Weighted Average Cost
of Capital (“WACC”) and terminal
growth rate used in the determination of
cash flow forecasts.

= We have assessed the appropriateness of
the disclosures in the financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GULF CEMENT COMPANY P.S.C. (continued)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

Allowance for slow moving and obsolete
inventories

The gross balance of inventories as at 31
December 2022 amounted to AED 104.0
million, against which provision for slow
moving and obsolete inventories amounting to
AED 13.0 million was recorded.

Inventories include various types of inventory
which are reported at the lower of cost or net
realizable value. Assessing net realizable value
of inventories is an area of significant
judgement, in particular with regard to the
estimation of allowance for slow-moving and
obsolete inventories and a history of negative
gross margin on sales.

Management has relied upon their experience,
physical verification, operational condition and
understanding of the nature and use of inventory
items and has accordingly made estimations for
allowance for slow moving and obsolete
inventories. Since significant judgement is
involved in assessing the required allowance, we
have identified this as a key audit matter.

Note 14 to the financial statements includes
disclosure of allowance for slow moving and
obsolete inventories and note 4 includes
significant judgments in applying accounting
policies.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit, the procedures to test the
management estimate of allowance for slow-
moving and obsolete inventories included the
following:

= We inquired of management to
understand the procedures undertaken as
part of the inventory review and

assessment of allowance for slow
moving and obsolete items.
= We evaluated the analysis and

assessments made by the management
with respect to the carrying value and
slow and obsolete inventories
considering the expected demand and
market value related to finished
products.

= We observed the inventory count
performed by management’s expert and
assessed the physical existence and
condition of selected samples of the
inventories.

= We tested the valuation of year-end
inventory for a sample of selected
inventory items, including review of
judgements  considered  regarding
obsolescence and net realizable value.

= We have assessed the appropriateness of
the disclosures in the financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GULF CEMENT COMPANY P.S.C. (continued)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

Assessment of going concern basis

As explained in note 1.1 to the financial
statements, the Company incurred a loss of AED
54.4 million for the year, and as at 31 December
2022 accumulated losses of the Company
amounted to AED 146.5 million. As at 31
December 2022, the current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by AED 60.6 million.

As disclosed in the assessment of liquidity risk
in note 28 to the financial statements, the
Company has financial liabilities of AED 213.0
million to be settled within one year from 31
December 2022. The Company has cash and
cash equivalents of AED 3.8 million, other
current assets of AED 161.1 million, other non-
current liquid investments of AED 2.2 million
and unutilized borrowing facilities of AED 48.5
million.

The financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis. The availability of
sufficient funding, meeting its budgets including
revenue targets and management’s assessment
of whether the Company will be able to continue
meeting its obligations under its financing
covenants were important for the going concern
assumption and, as such, were significant
aspects of our audit.

This assessment was largely based on the
expectations of, and the estimates made by
management. The expectations and estimates
can be influenced by subjective elements such as
estimated future cash flows, forecasted results
and margins from operations, and are sensitive,
in particular, to expected raw material prices,
sales prices of the Company’s products in the
foreseeable future and availability of sufficient
borrowing facilities.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to the management’s
assessment of going concern assumption
included:

= We obtained an understanding of the
process over the liquidity assessment,
compliance with the debt covenants and
preparation of the cash flow forecast for
the next 12 months after the reporting
date.

= We analysed management’s future cash
flow forecasts, and the process by which
they were prepared, and reviewed the
reasonableness of underlying key
assumptions such as expected cash
inflow from product sales, external
funding and cash outflow from operating
and other activities.

= Regarding revenue expectations, we
reviewed the reasonableness of the
estimates made by management by
assessing  whether the  estimates
regarding sales forecasts and sales prices
are in line with historical revenues to
date, approved purchase orders to date
and budget approved by the Board of
Directors. We also inquired about an
alternative  scenario  analysis  of
management using the low end of
revenue forecasts and accompanying
key assumptions to ascertain the extent
of change in those assumptions that
either individually or collectively would
lead to alternative conclusions.

= We read the minutes of the meeting of
the Board of Directors in order to
understand future plans and to identify
potential contradictory information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GULF CEMENT COMPANY P.S.C. (continued)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Assessment of going concern basis (continued)

= Obtained an understanding of the
financing plan, and the progress made on
executing against the plan up to the date
of this report. We reviewed the financing
options being considered by the
Company and made our own assessment
of the likelihood and feasibility of each
option.

= We agreed the details of the Company’s
used and wunused available credit
facilities (including the amendment and
extension of credit facilities) to the
supporting documentation.

= We have assessed the appropriateness of
the disclosures in the financial
statements.

Other information
Other information consists of Management’s Report other than the financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and Board of directors for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRSs, and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Company’s Articles
of Association and the UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of directors are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GULF CEMENT COMPANY P.S.C. (continued)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

= |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the
override of internal control.

= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

= Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

= Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

= Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GULF CEMENT COMPANY P.S.C. (continued)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

We also provide the board of directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Board of directors, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021, we report that for the year ended
31 December 2022:

i)  the Company has maintained proper books of account;

i) we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

iii) the financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the
applicable provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association and UAE Federal Law No. 32

of 2021;

iv) the financial information included in the Manager’s report is consistent with the books of
account of the Company;

v) investments in shares and stocks during the year ended 31 December 2022, if any, are disclosed
in note 12 to the financial statements;

vi) note 23 reflects material related party transactions and the terms under which they were
conducted;

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

GULF CEMENT COMPANY P.S.C. (continued)

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements (continued)

vii) based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our attention
which causes us to believe that the Company has contravened during the financial year ended
31 December 2022, any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021 or
of its Article of Association which would have a material impact on its activities or its financial
position as at 31 December 2022; and

viii) note 7(a) reflects the social contributions made during the year.

For Ernst & Young

Signed by:

Wardah Ebrahim
Partner

Registration No.: 1258
13 February 2023

Sharjah, United Arab Emirates

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited



Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Revenue from contracts with customers
Cost of sales

GROSS LOSS

Other operating income

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Investment (loss)/ income

Finance cost

Other income

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Earnings per share (EPS):
Basic loss per share

The attached notes 1 to 30 form part of these financial statements.

2022 2021

Notes AED AED
5 348,112,911 340,637,382
(378,569,829)  (377,108,360)
(30,456,918)  (36,470,978)
6 5,233,569 3,933,367
7 (28,032,207)  (39,619,560)
8 (891,808) 11,208,335
(2,640,873) (2,229,301)
9 2,384,939 10,189,812
(54,403,298)  (52,988,325)
21 (0.13) (0.13)

9



Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes 2022 2021
AED AED
LOSS FOR THE YEAR (54,403,298) (52,988,325)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:
Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent years
Profit on disposal of investments carried at fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 12(a) 13,443,462 103,744
Net change in fair value of investments carried at FVTOCI 12(b) 81,837 1,563,307
Total other comprehensive income 13,525,299 1,667,051
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (40,877,999) (51,321,274)

The attached notes 1 to 30 form part of these financial statements.

10



Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Asat 31 December 2022

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property. plant and equipment

Investment property

Investment carried at fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

Trade and other receivables

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventorics

Trade and other receivables

Investment carried at fair value through
profit or loss (FVTPL)

Bank balances and cash

Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

Share capital

Reserves

Fair value reserves
Accumulated losses

Total equity

Non-current liabilities

Provision for employees” end of service indemnity
Term loans

Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Bank borrowings

Term loans

Trade and other payables
Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Kayed Omar Saqr Mohamed Al Qassimi
Chairman of the Board of Directors

The attached notes 1 to 30 form part of these financial statements,

Notes

10
11

12(a)
13

14
13

12(b)
15

16
17
[2(a)

18
19

19
19

2022 2021
AED AED

659,416,363 659,158,116
6,430,000 12,630.000
2,223,101 31,137,293
1,567,283 2.067.283
669,636,747 704,992,692
90,932,943 78,794,325
60,298,736 54,400,828
9,915,102 37,024,967
3,774,784 7,182,161
164,921,565 177.402,281
834,558,312 882.394.973
410,548,410  410.548.410
348,663,041 348,663.041

(12,274,202)  (39.675.070)

(146,468,061)  (78.,189.194)
600,469,188 641,347,187
8,579,271 8,480,783
- 122,949
8,579,271 8.603,732
51,062,120 28.996,574
123,428 200,469
174,324,305  203.247.011
225,509,853  232.444,054
234,089,124 241,047,786
834,558,312 882.394.973




Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Balance at 1 January 2022
Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Transfer of fair value reserve of equity instruments
designated at FVTOCI (note 12(a))

Balance at 31 December 2022

Share Fair value Accumulated
capital Reserves reserve losses Total
AED AED AED AED AED
410,548,410 348,663,041 (39,675,070) (78,189,194) 641,347,187
- - - (54,403,298) (54,403,298)
- - 81,837 13,443,462 13,525,299
- - 81,837 (40,959,836) (40,877,999)
- - 27,319,031 (27,319,031) -
410,548,410 348,663,041 (12,274,202) (146,468,061) 600,469,188

The attached notes 1 to 30 form part of these financial statements.
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Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Balance at 1 January 2021
Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Transfer of fair value reserve of equity instruments
designated at FVTOCI (note 12(a))

Dividend distribution (note 22)

Balance at 31 December 2021

Share Fair value Accumulated
capital Reserves reserve losses Total
AED AED AED AED AED
410,548,410 369,190,461 (58,537,574) (8,005,416) 713,195,881
- - - (52,988,325) (52,988,325)
- - 1,563,307 103,744 1,667,051
- - 1,563,307 (52,884,581) (51,321,274)
- - 17,299,197 (17,299,197) -
- (20,527,420) - - (20,527,420)
410,548,410 348,663,041 (39,675,070) (78,189,194) 641,347,187

The attached notes 1 to 30 form part of these financial statements.

13



Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss for the year

Adjustments to reconcile loss to cash flows:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10
Finance cost
Provision for employees' end of service indemnity 18
Provision/ (reversal) for expected credit losses 13
Fair value gain on investment properties 11
Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories

written back 14(c)

Unrealized loss/ (gain) on investments carried at FVTPL 8
Loss/ (gain) on sale of investments in securities 8
Interest and dividend income 8
Unwinding of receivable from sale of an associate

Working capital adjustments
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Trade and other payables

Employees' end of service indemnity paid 18
Finance cost paid

Net cash flows (used in)/ from operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 10
Purchase of investments carried at FVTOCI 12
Proceeds on disposal of investments in securities

Proceeds on disposal of investments Property

Dividends received

Interest income

Net cash flows from/ (used in) investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank borrowings
Repayments of bank borrowings
Repayments of term loans
Dividends paid

Net cash flows from/ (used in) financing activities

NET (DECREASE)/ INCREASE IN BANK BALANCES AND CASH
DURING THE YEAR

Bank balances and cash at the beginning of the year

BANK BALANCES AND CASH AT THE END
OF THE YEAR 15

The attached notes 1 to 30 form part of these financial statements.

2022 2021
AED AED
(54,403,298)  (52,988,325)
55,078,877 44,948,120
2,640,873 2,229,301
743,465 548,037
1,108,327 (217,686)
(37,056) (1,930,000)
(8,000,000) -
202,099 (5,080,931)
3,389,694 (887,532)
(2,662,929) (3,309,872)
- (400,000)
(1,939,948)  (17,088,888)
(6,506,235) 37,922,756
(4,138,618) (7,842,398)
(28,426,149) 62,588,828
(41,010,950) 75,580,298
(644,977) (882,494)
(2,640,873) (2,229,301)
(44,296,800) 72,468,503

(55,337,124)

(35,721,155)

(4,921,349)  (19,933,938)
70,878,912 27,321,011
6,237,056 -
2,660,421 3,303,432
2,508 6,440
19,520,424  (25,024,210)
174,647,781 140,704,544
(152,582,235)  (167,205,971)
(199,990) (188,984)
(496,557)  (19,839,651)
21,368,999  (46,530,062)
(3,407,377) 914,231
7,182,161 6,267,930
3,774,784 7,182,161
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Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2022

1 ACTIVITIES

Gulf Cement Company P.S.C. (Public Shareholding Company) - Ras Al Khaimah (the "Company™) having license
no. 32 is incorporated as a public shareholding company by Emiri decree number 24/77 issued by His Highness, The
Ruler of Ras Al Khaimah, U.A.E., in 1977. The address of the Company's registered office is P. O. Box 5295, Ras
Al Khaimah, United Arab Emirates. The Company’s shares are listed on Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (ADX). In
the General Assembly Meeting held on 2 April 2020, the shareholders approved the delisting of the Company’s shares
from Kuwait Stock Exchange (Boursa Kuwait). The last day of trading of the Company’s shares in Boursa Kuwait
was on 14 December 2020.

The principal activities of the Company are production and marketing of all types of cement.

1.1  ASSESSMENT OF GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company incurred a loss of AED 54.4 million, as of that date, the
Company’s accumulated losses amounted to AED 146.5 million, and current liabilities exceeded current assets by
AED 60.6 million. Slowdown in the overall economic situation arising from the consequences of the Covid-19
outspread and changing geopolitical situation; competitive prices and a continuous excess supply pressure, operating
results have been negatively impacted.

The major challenges during the year were the supply chain disruption post Covid-19 recovery, which caused rising
global fuel and energy prices while the ongoing Russia-Ukraine war further aggravated this situation, controlling
fixed cost, passing increasing cost to customers and scheduled maintenance considering world-wide Covid-19
restrictions on movement and trade. The Company has shown resilience in all respect and has adopted all tangible
measures to improvise the situation in the Company’s favour. The cost control measures, and various strategies
adopted by management in 2022 in all areas with a specific focus to reduce fixed costs have started reaping fruit
during the year. During the year, the Company has improved its gross loss from 10.7% for the previous year to 8.7%
for the current year & improved EBITDA from negative AED 5.8 million to positive AED 3.3 million.

In order to be able to deal with the effects of continued all-time high energy and commaodity prices, the current selling
price environment, as well as effects of the Covid-19 outbreak and global uncertainty, the management is continuously
reviewing the Company's business and asserting the strategies. Tactical course of actions taken is mentioned below:

Upward price revision in local market and renegotiation on prices with export customers

Developing new markets for both existing and new products in the export business

Reduction of costs and improvements in efficiencies wherever conceivable

Energy conservative measures and right mix of power sources and effective and efficient use of available

resources to be lowest cost-producer in the country

= Restoration of machine efficiencies following successful maintenances that was delayed due to covid

= Automation of machines interfaces with ERP for real time data and effective decision making

= Curtailment of discretionary capital expenditure while preserving the ability of the business to increase
production when cement prices and economies improve

= Strict working capital management through negotiation in payment terms with suppliers

Management have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period in excess of 12 months. Various scenarios have been
considered to test the Company’s resilience to business risks including:

= Significant adverse movements in the energy and fuel prices, and cement selling prices or a combination
thereof
=  Failure to meet forecast demand targets

In view of this, the management has determined that the Company has sufficient internal and external sources of
finance until the performance metrics improve, which is expected in the near future. The Company is currently low-
leveraged and consequently management believe that it is better placed to face off the headwinds as compared to its
competitors that provides sufficient headroom to cushion against downside operational risks and the risk of breaching
any debt covenants. At 31 December 2022, the Company had available AED 48.5 million (31 December 2021:
AED 46.9 million) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities.

Based on the Company’s expectation related to the forecasts and facilities in place, management believe that the
Company will be able to operate and comply with its financial covenants and be able to meet its obligations as they
fall due, and accordingly have formed a judgement that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis.
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Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2022

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association and the UAE Federal Law
No. 32 of 2021.

The financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis except for investments carried at fair value through
profit or loss, investments carried at fair value through other comprehensive income and investment property that
have been measured at fair value.

The financial statements have been presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams (“AED”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company, and all values are rounded to the nearest AED except where otherwise indicated.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
The accounting policies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent with those used
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, except as follows:

New and amended standards and interpretations

The Company applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 (unless otherwise stated). The Company has not early adopted any other
standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. These new and amended standards
and interpretations did not have any material impact on the financial statements of the Company.

Covid -19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 — Amendments to IFRS 16

Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfilling a Contract — Amendments to IAS 37

Reference to the Conceptual Framework — Amendments to IFRS 3

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use — Amendments to IAS 16 Leases

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards — Subsidiary as a first-time adopter
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Fees in the *10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities

IAS 41 Agriculture — Taxation in fair value measurements

Standards issued but not yet effective

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance
of the Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt these new and amended
standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective. Majority of the amendments below are not
expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

= |FRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with
comparative figures required. Early application is permitted, provided the entity also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS
15 on or before the date it first applies IFRS 17)

=  Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (effective from annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and must be applied retrospectively)

= Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to 1AS 8 (effective from annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that
occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted as long as this fact is disclosed)

= Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to 1AS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 (effective from
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier application permitted. Since the amendments
to the Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on the application of the definition of material to
accounting policy information, an effective date for these amendments is not necessary

= Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture — Amendments to IFRS
10 and IAS 28 (In December 2015, the IASB decided to defer the effective date of the amendments until such
time as it has finalised any amendments that result from its research project on the equity method. The
amendments must be applied prospectively. Early application is still permitted and must be disclosed)

= Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction - Amendments to IAS 12
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023)

= Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback — Amendments to IFRS 16 (effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024. Earlier application is permitted and that fact must be disclosed.)
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Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2022

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the
customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. The Company has concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements because it
typically controls the goods or services before transferring them to the customer.

Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the goods is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the goods at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods.

Dividend and interest revenue
Dividend revenue from investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been
established.

Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the asset’s net carrying amount.

Contract balances

Trade receivables

A receivable is recognised if an amount of consideration that is unconditional is due from the customer (i.e., only the
passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due).

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised if a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Company transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Company performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses
if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs for
long-term construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is
recognised in the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria
are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as
incurred. The present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of the asset after its use is included in the
cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the asset except for certain plant
and machinery and power stations which are depreciated using units of product method, as follows:

Building and roads 27 to 35 years
Plant and machinery 5 to 15 years/ units of production
Power stations units of production
Vehicles and equipment 2 to 5 years
IT computer and hardware 3 years

Units of production rates are based on estimated remaining production units of the plant and machinery and power
stations measured in terms of tonnage and megawatts, respectively as of 1 January 2020 as determined by an
independent third-party consultant. These remaining production units are estimated considering operation and
maintenance of the plant and machinery and power stations as per internationally accepted industry standards.
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Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2022

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of comprehensive
income in the year the asset is derecognised.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed
at each financial year end, and adjusted prospectively if, appropriate.

Spare parts that meet the definition of property, plant and equipment are capitalised as such and accounted for
accordingly. If spare parts do not meet the recognition criteria of property, plant and equipment, they are either carried
in inventory or consumed and recorded in the statement of profit or loss. Depreciation of spare parts commences when
they are put into use, rather than when they are acquired. Spare parts are depreciated over the shorter of its useful life
and the remaining expected useful life of the asset to which it relates. Before the spare parts is available for service,
any reduction in value is reflected as an impairment loss as per the requirements of 1AS 36 when indicators of
impairment are identified. Key assumptions used by the management in assessing the impairment of property, plant
and equipment are disclosed in note 4 and note 10(a).

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing each product to its
present location and condition are accounted for, as follows:

- Raw materials - purchase cost on a weighted average basis
- Finished goods and work in progress - cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing
overheads based on the normal operating capacity, but excluding borrowing costs

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

i)  Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI), and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical expedient, the
Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Company has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price under IFRS 15.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to
give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding.
This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash
flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held within
a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows while financial
assets classified and measured at fair value through OCI are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
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Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2022

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
i) Financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Company
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

The Company’s financial assets include bank balances, trade and other receivables, investments carried at FVTOCI
and FVTPL.

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in the following categories:

=  Financial assets at amortised cost

= Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses

=  Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon
derecognition

=  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

The Company’s financial assets at amortised cost includes bank balances and trade and other receivables.

Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Company can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments
designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as investment
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the Company
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are
recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment assessment.

The Company elected to classify irrevocably its non-listed equity investments and certain listed equity investments
under this category.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes listed equity investments which the Company had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through OCI. Dividends on listed equity investments are recognised as investment income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Company’s statement of financial position) when:

= The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

=  The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement;
and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2022

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
i) Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the
Company continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the
Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECL") for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an
approximation to the asset’s original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables, the Company applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Company does
not track changes in credit risk but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL’s at each reporting
date. The Company has established a provision matrix that is based on the Company’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. The expected credit losses
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Company. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovering the contractual cash flows.

iM) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade payables, bank borrowings, term loans and other payables.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as described below:

= Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
= Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

This is the category most relevant to the Company. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.
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Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2022

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
iM) Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

This category generally applies to trade payables, bank borrowings, term loans and other payables.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

iii)  Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position
if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where
the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is
written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In
determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can
be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by other available fair
value indicators.

The Company bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared
separately for each of the Company’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast
calculations generally cover a year of five years. A long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future
cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for properties previously revalued and the revaluation was
taken to other comprehensive income. For such properties, the impairment is recognised in other comprehensive
income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the
Company estimates the asset’s or CGUs recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last
impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its
recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the income statement
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
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At 31 December 2022

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the year in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Investment properties

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in profit or loss in the year in which they
arise. Fair values are determined based on an annual valuation performed by an accredited external independent
valuer.

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in the year of derecognition. In
determining the amount of consideration from the derecognition of investment property the Company considers the
effects of variable consideration, existence of a significant financing component, non-cash consideration, and
consideration payable to the buyer (if any).

Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment
property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change
in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Company accounts for such property in
accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of change in use.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

= In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
= In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would
use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

= Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

= Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable

= Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2022

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)
The Company measures financial assets such as investment in quoted and unquoted securities and non-financial assets
such as investment in properties, at fair value at each balance sheet date.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy, as explained above.

Fair-value related disclosures for financial instruments and non-financial assets that are measured at fair value or
where fair values are disclosed, are summarised in notes 4,11,12 and 26.

Current versus non-current classification
The Company presents assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on current/non-current
classification. An asset as current when it is:

= Expected to be realised or intended to sold or consumed in normal operating cycle

= Held primarily for the purpose of trading

= Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting year, or

= Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting year

All other assets are classified as non-current. A liability is current when:

= Itis expected to be settled in normal operating cycle

= Itis held primarily for the purpose of trading

= Itis due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting year, or

= There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting year

The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Bank balances and cash

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of three months or less, that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Dividend

The Company recognises a liability to pay a dividend when the distribution is authorised and the distribution is no
longer at the discretion of the Company. As per the Company’s Article of Association, a distribution is authorised
when it is approved by the shareholders and ratified by the market regulator. A corresponding amount is derecognised
from equity and transferred to liabilities.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Company expects some or
all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented
in the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements. They are disclosed unless the possibility of an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not recognised in the financial
statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
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Employee benefits

Defined contribution plan

UAE national employees of the Company are members of the Government-managed retirement pension and social
security benefit scheme pursuant to the applicable Federal Labour Law. The Company is required to contribute 12.5%
of the “contribution calculation salary” of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
employees and the Government contribute 5% and 2.5% of the “contribution calculation salary” respectively, to the
scheme. The only obligation of the Company with respect to the retirement pension and social security scheme is to
make the specified contributions (12.5%). The contributions are charged to profit or loss.

Annual leave
An accrual is made for the estimated liability for employees' entitlement to annual leave as a result of services rendered
by eligible employees up to the end of the year.

Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity

The Company provides end of service benefits to its expatriate employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based
upon the employees’ salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period. The
expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment.

The accrual relating to annual leave is disclosed as a current liability, while the provision relating to end of service
indemnity is disclosed as a non-current liability.

Value added tax
Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax (VAT), except:

= When the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in
which case, the VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item,
as applicable.

= When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of VAT included.

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or
payables in the statement of financial position.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the spot rates at the date the transaction qualifies for
recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the spot rates of
exchange at the reporting date. All differences are taken to the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on
translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of
it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date
of the transaction is the date on which the Company initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Company
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of advance consideration.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future
years.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Going concern

The Company’s management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and
believes that the Company has the necessary required resources to enable it to continue its operations and meet its
obligations as and when they fall due (note 1.1).

Based on the above, the management believes that the Company will be able to continue as a going concern for the
foreseeable future, and accordingly, the financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

Classification of investments

Management designates at the time of acquisition of securities whether these should be classified as at FVTOCI or
FVTPL. In judging whether investments in securities are as at FVTOCI or FVTPL, management has considered the
detailed criteria for determination of such classification as set out in IFRS 9, and accordingly management is satisfied
that its investments in securities are appropriately classified.

Component parts of property, plant and equipment

The Company’s assets classified within property, plant and equipment, are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
their economic useful lives or the units of production method. When determining the economic useful life of an asset,
it is broken down into significant component parts such that each significant component part is depreciated separately.
Judgement is required in ascertaining the significant components of a larger asset, and while defining the significance
of a component, management considers quantitative materiality of the component part as well as qualitative factors
such as difference in useful life as compared to main asset, its pattern of consumption, and its replacement
cycle/maintenance schedule.

Classification of properties

Management decides at the time of acquisition of a property whether it should be classified as property, plant and
equipment or investment property. The Company classifies properties as property, plant and equipment when the
properties are held for use by, or in the operations, of the Company. Properties are classified as investment properties
when the intention is to hold them for capital appreciation, for rental or for undetermined use. The Company changes
the classification when its intention changes.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year, are described below. The Company based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available
when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments,
however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Company.
Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Units of production depreciation

Certain property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the units of production (UOP) method based on the
remaining production capacity as determined by an independent third-party consultant as of 1 January 2022. This
results in a depreciation charge proportional to the estimated production capacity of the relevant item of property,
plant and equipment. Each items’ life, which is assessed annually, has regard to both its physical life limitations and
to present assessments of the remaining production capacity assuming the operation and maintenance of the property,
plant, and equipment as per internationally accepted industry standards. These calculations require the use of estimates
and assumptions, including the number of remaining units of productions and estimates of future capital expenditure.
The calculation of the UOP rate of depreciation could be impacted to the extent that actual production in the future is
different from current forecast production or future capital expenditure estimates changes.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)
Estimates and assumptions (continued)

Units of production depreciation (continued)
Changes to estimated production capacity could arise due to changes in the factors or assumptions used in estimating
capacity, including the below:

= Unforeseen operational issues

= Manufacturing defects

= Improper modifications done

= Improper replacements done

= Poor maintenance practices

= Reducing costly unscheduled outages caused by in-service failures

Changes in estimates are accounted for prospectively.

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables

The Company uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geography, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit
insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Company’s historical observed default rates. The Company will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs
is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic
conditions. The Company’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Company’s trade
receivables and contract assets is disclosed in note 13 and note 28.

As at the date of the statement of financial position, gross trade receivables were AED 54.4 million (2021: AED 40.4
million) and the provision for expected credit losses was AED 4.0 million (2021: AED 2.9 million).

Existence of inventories

Inventories comprise of purchased raw materials (limestone, sand, slag, gypsum, iron ore and bauxite) and work in
progress (mainly clinker which are stored in purpose built shed and stockpiles). Since the weighing of these
inventories is not practicable, management assesses the quantities on hand at the year-end by obtaining measurements
of the stockpiles and converting these measurements to unit of volumes by using the angle of repose and the bulk
density. In doing so, management appoints an independent surveyor to estimate the quantities by using certain
scientific systematic measurements calculations and applying the density conversion methods which are applied for
similar stock in the cement industry.

Impairment of inventories

Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or obsolete, an
estimate is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts this estimation is performed on an
individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are assessed
collectively and a provision applied according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, based
on anticipated selling prices.

At the reporting date, gross inventories were AED 104.0 million (2021: AED 99.8 million) with provision for old and
obsolete inventories of AED 13.0 million (2021: AED 21.0 million). Any differences between the amounts actually
realised in future years and the amounts expected will be recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot
be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using observable or unobservable
valuation techniques including the discounted cash flow (DCF) model, where appropriate. The inputs to these models
are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required
in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility.
Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)
Estimates and assumptions (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation
is based market approach (i.e. sales comparison method) and cost approach (i.e. depreciated replacement cost
method). The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model.

The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do not include restructuring activities that the
Company is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the performance of the assets of
the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as the
expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. The key assumptions used to
determine the recoverable amount for the CGU are disclosed in note 10(a).

Fair value of investment properties

The Company carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. For investment properties, a valuation methodology based on the current prices in an active
market for similar properties is used. In the absence of such information, the Company determined the amounts within
a range of reasonable fair value estimates. In making its judgment, the Company considers recent prices of similar
properties in the same location and similar conditions, with adjustments to reflect any changes in the nature, location
or economic conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices. Such estimation is based on
certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results.

The Company engaged an independent valuation specialist to assess fair values as at 31 December 2022. The key
assumptions used to determine the fair value of the properties and sensitivity analysis are provided in note 11.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment, excluding power stations and a production line classified as part of
plant and machinery

The Company’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment for calculating
depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset or physical wear and tear.
Management reviews the residual value and useful lives annually and future depreciation charge would be adjusted
where the management believes the useful lives differ from previous estimates.

5 REVENUE FROM CONTRACT WITH CUSTOMERS

a) Disaggregated revenue information

Set out below is the disaggregation of the revenue from contracts with customers:

2022 2021
AED AED
Type of revenue
Sale of goods 348,112,911 340,637,382
Geographical markets
Within UAE 120,723,817 75,435,741
Outside UAE 227,389,094 265,201,641

348,112,911 340,637,382

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time 348,112,911 340,637,382

Revenue includes AED 259.0 million which represents 74% of total revenue from 7 customers (2021: AED 313.8
million which represents 92% of total revenue from 7 customers).
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5 REVENUE FROM CONTRACT WITH CUSTOMERS (continued)

b) Contract balances

2022 2021
AED AED
Asset
Trade receivables (note 13) 50,323,883 37,468,660
Liability
Advances from customers (note 20) 13,443,152 1,410,742

C) Performance obligations

The performance obligation on sales of goods is satisfied upon delivery and payment is generally due within 150 to

180 days from delivery (2021: 150 to 180 days).

6 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Other operating income consists of income earned on electricity generated by the Company. Income earned during

the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to AED 5.2 million (2021: AED 3.9 million).

7 SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

2022 2021
AED AED
Loading charges 18,071,525 23,834,411
Salaries and employee related cost (note (b)) 12,244,347 11,866,393
Director expenses (note 23) 1,059,099 539,447
Professional charges 970,117 962,434
Allowance for slow-moving inventories written back (8,000,000) -
Allowance/ (reversal) for expected credit losses (note 13 (a)) 1,108,327 (217,686)
Sales promotion 80,369 134,207
Others 2,498,423 2,500,354
28,032,207 39,619,560

a) The social contributions (including donations and charity) made during the year amounting to AED 6,550

(2021: AED nil).

b) Salaries and employee related cost for the year were allocated as follows:

2022 2021

AED AED
Cost of sales 20,852,288 18,798,425
Selling, general and administrative expenses 12,244,347 11,866,393
33,096,635 30,664,818
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8 INVESTMENT (LOSS)/ INCOME - NET

2022 2021

AED AED
Unrealised (loss)/ gain on investments carried at FVTPL (hote 12) (202,099) 5,080,931
Dividend income 2,660,421 3,303,432
Gain on fair valuation of investment properties (note 11) - 1,930,000
Gain on sale of investment properties (note 11) 37,056 -
Realised (loss)/ gain on disposal of investments carried at FVTPL (3,389,694) 887,532
Interest income 2,508 6,440

(891,808) 11,208,335

9 OTHER INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2022, other income mainly consists of scrap sales. In the previous year, other income
includes AED 6.7 million received by the Company as a compensation for the release of a plot of land to RAK Port
Authority. The plot was allocated to the Company in prior years by the Ras Al Khaimah government for nil
consideration.
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost
At 1 January 2021
Additions
Transfers

At 31 December 2021
Additions
Transfers

At 31 December 2022
Depreciation and impairment

At 1 January 2021

Charge for the year

Transfers

At 31 December 2021
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2022

Net carrying value
At 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2021

Vehicles
Building Plant and Power and IT Computer  Capital work Spare

and roads machinery stations equipment & hardware in progress parts Total

AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED
157,445,609 1,085,666,008 488,256,226 16,717,384 10,333,644 3,686,727 136,066,082 1,898,171,680
- 795,933 - 676,830 196,165 - 34,052,227 35,721,155

- 40,203,543 - - - (3,686,727)  (36,516,816) -
157,445,609 1,126,665,484 488,256,226 17,394,214 10,529,809 - 133,601,493 1,933,892,835
- 723,483 7,568,006 200,661 1,117,923 9,441,456 36,285,595 55,337,124

- 47,975,353 - - - (7,568,005)  (40,407,348) -
157,445,609 1,175,364,320 495,824,232 17,594,875 11,647,732 1,873,451 129,479,740 1,989,229,959
139,433,713 834,796,409 202,021,451 16,582,251 9,080,946 753,962 27,117,867 1,229,786,599
1,628,138 35,056,357 7,332,245 87,608 843,772 - - 44,948,120

- - - - - (753,962) 753,962 -
141,061,851 869,852,766 209,353,696 16,669,859 9,924,718 - 27,871,829 1,274,734,719
1,597,638 47,069,780 5,515,045 70,416 825,998 - - 55,078,877
142,659,489 916,922,546 214,868,741 16,740,275 10,750,716 - 27,871,829 1,329,813,596
14,786,120 258,441,774 280,955,491 854,600 897,016 1,873,451 101,607,911 659,416,363
16,383,758 256,812,718 278,902,530 724,355 605,091 - 105,729,664 659,158,116
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a)

b)

d)

e)

f)

9)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no impairment losses (2021: AED nil of impairment loss) has been
recognised against property, plant and equipment (“PPE”), to adjust the carrying value to its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as ‘impairment of property, plant
and equipment’. The recoverable amount assessed as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 was based
on value in use calculated using the discounted cash flow approach over the period of next 5 years determined
at the level of CGU with a terminal growth rate assumed after the 5th year. The CGU consisted of whole block
of PPE as all the assets are used inseparably to provide service to customers that generate the cash flows. In
arriving at the value in use of the PPE, the Company has projected the future cash flows for a period of five
years using the following assumptions:
2022 2021

Discount rate 10.50% 8.9%
Growth rate on price per ton 4.73% 3%
Terminal year growth rate 2.5% 1.5%
Fuel and power price refer below refer below

Fuel and power price include coal and gas prices. Average coal prices are obtained from published indices for
the countries from which materials are sourced, as well as data relating to specific commodities. Forecast
figures of coal is based on publicly available data if available otherwise average five-year actual coal prices
are used as an indicator of the future price. In case of gas, forecast figures is derived basis of average of five-
year actual gas prices as an indicator of the future price.

Value in use is higher than the carrying amount of the PPE as at 31 December 2022. Hence, no impairment
losses were recorded by the Company.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

The discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risk specific to the CGU, taking into
consideration the time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets that have not been
incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate is derived from the weighted average cost of capital,
which takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return on
investment of the Company’s investors. The cost of debt is based on average lending rates. Segment specific
risk is incorporated by applying individual beta factors, evaluated annually based on publicly available market
data. A rise in the discount rate to 10.6% (2021: 9.0%) (i.e., +10 basis points)) in the CGU would result in no
impairment (2021: no impairment.)

On average, the revenue of the CGU over the next five years is projected to grow in line with the economy or
with real Gross Domestic Product. Historically, cement industry growth had a direct correlation with economic
growth. A reduction by 0.1% in the growth rate on price per ton in the CGU would result in no impairment
(2021: no impairment).

The terminal year growth rate is based on the projected growth of the Company which is in line with its
historical experience, economic conditions of the countries where the Company operates, and the Company’s
future plans. A reduction by 0.1% in the terminal year growth rate in the CGU would result in no impairment
(2021: no impairment).

If prices of fuel and power increase on average by 0.5%, the Company will have no impairment (2021: no
impairment).

At 31 December 2022, the cost of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment that is still in use amounted
to AED 620.7 million (2021: AED 602.0 million).

Depreciation on spare parts is not charged until such time as these assets are placed in service and transferred
to the respective categories of property, plant and equipment.

The factory and its related buildings are constructed on plots of land owned by the Government of Ras Al
Khaimah. All property, plant and equipment is located in the UAE.

Motor vehicles with net book value of AED 141 thousand (31 December 2021: AED 504 thousand) are
mortgaged against auto loan (note 19).

There is a negative pledge over property, plant and equipment against borrowings (note 19).

Assignment of fire insurance policy over moveable property, plant and equipment in relation to banking
facilities obtained by the Company (note 19).
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11 INVESTMENT PROPERTY

2022 2021

AED AED
At the beginning of the year 12,630,000 10,700,000
Change in fair value - 1,930,000
Disposal during the year (6,200,000) -
At the end of the year 6,430,000 12,630,000

Investment property represents plots of land in Ras Al Khaimah.

During the year, one of the investment property has been sold for AED 6,237,056, resulting in a gain on disposal of
AED 37,056.

The fair value of the Company’s investment property at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 has been arrived
at on the basis of a valuation carried out at by an independent and competent valuer. The valuation was arrived at by
reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties. There has been no change to valuation
technique compared to previous year.

At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Company’s investment properties are classified as Level 3 in the
fair value hierarchy and there were no transfers between the Levels 1,2,3 during 2022 and 2021.

The Company has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no contractual obligations to
purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for repairs, maintenance and enhancements.

Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation of investment properties:

Significant unobservable
Valuation techniques input Range (weighted average)
2022 2021
Current market rate for
comparable properties that
Plot of land  have been sold in nearby area Rate per sq. ft. AED 30 AED 30-155

Significant increases / (decreases) in estimated rate per square feet in isolation would result in a significantly higher
(lower) fair value of the investment properties.

12 INVESTMENT IN SECURITIES

a) Investments carried at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

2022 2021

AED AED
Quoted 10,419,598 66,734,658
Unquoted 4,077,705 4,077,705
Total gross investments at FVTOCI at cost 14,497,303 70,812,363
Less: accumulated fair value reserve, net (12,274,202) (39,675,070)
Fair value of investments 2,223,101 31,137,293
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The geographical spread of the above investments is as follows:

2022 2021
Concentration Concentration
percentage Cost Fair value  percentage Cost Fair value
on fair value AED AED on fair value AED AED
UAE 0% - - 0.5% 175,838 162,150
Kuwait 100% 14,497,303 2,223,101 99.5% 70,636,525 30,975,143
100% 14,497,303 2,223,101 100% 70,812,363 31,137,293

The cumulative change in fair value of investments carried at FVTOCI amounted to negative AED 12.3 million as at
31 December 2022 (2021: negative AED 39.7 million) and is shown under equity. During the year, the Company has
transferred AED 27.3 million (2021: AED 17.3 million) from fair value reserve to accumulated losses arising from
the disposal of investments carried FVTOCI. The total proceeds from the disposal of investments carried at FVTOCI
amounted to AED 47.4 million (2021: AED 17.6 million) resulting to a gain of AED 13.4 million (2021: AED 0.1
million) which is shown in the statement of comprehensive income.

Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI include investments in equity shares of listed and non-listed
companies. The Company holds non-controlling interests in these companies. These investments were irrevocably
designated at fair value through OCI as the Company considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

b) Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
2022 2021
AED AED
Quoted investments at cost 14,757,958 72,515,016
Unquoted 2,826,156 2,826,156
Total gross investments at FVTPL at cost 17,584,114 75,341,172
Less: cumulative changes in fair value (7,669,012) (38,316,205)
Fair value of investments 9,915,102 37,024,967
The geographical spread of the above investments is as follows:
2022 2021
Concentration Concentration
percentage Cost Fair value  percentage Cost Fair value
on fair value AED AED on fair value AED AED
UAE 95.6% 8,077,941 9,483,754 46.1% 27,271,815 17,060,897
Other GCC countries 44% 9,506,173 431,348 53.9% 48,069,357 19,964,070
100% 17,584,114 9,915,102 100% 75,341,172 37,024,967

The total proceeds from the disposal of investments carried at FVTPL amounted to AED 23.5 million (31 December
2021: AED 7.8 million) resulting to a loss of AED 3.4 million (31 December 2021: gain of AED 887.5 thousand)
which is shown in the statement of profit or loss.
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12 INVESTMENT IN SECURITIES (continued)

b) Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) (continued)

Movement in investment in securities (FVTOCI and FVTPL) were as follows:

2022 2021
AED AED
Fair value of investments at the beginning of the year 68,162,260 67,913,819
Additions made during the year 4,921,349 19,933,938
Disposals made during the year at carrying value (60,825,144) (26,329,735)
Unrealized (loss)/ gain on revaluation of investments carried at FVTPL (note 8) (202,099) 5,080,931
Unrealized gain on revaluation of investments carried at FVTOCI 81,837 1,563,307
Fair value of investments at the end of the year 12,138,203 68,162,260
13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2022 2021
AED AED
Trade receivables 54,373,434 40,409,884
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (note (a)) (4,049,551) (2,941,224)
50,323,883 37,468,660
Other receivables 9,474,853 16,432,168
Receivable from sale of an associate 2,067,283 2,567,283
61,866,019 56,468,111
Less: receivable from sale of an associate due after one year (1,567,283) (2,067,283)
60,298,736 54,400,828
a) The movement in allowance for expected credit losses during the year was as follows:
2022 2021
AED AED
Balance at the beginning of the year 2,941,224 3,158,910
Charge/ (reversal) for the year (note 7) 1,108,327 (217,686)
4,049,551 2,941,224
b) In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Company considers any significant change in the

credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The
majority of trade receivables are secured against bank guarantees credit, and management believes that the

allowance for ECL at the reporting date is sufficient.
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13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

c) Analysis of gross trade receivables are set out below:

2022 2021

AED AED
Secured against unconditional bank guarantees 26,870,249 18,946,982
Unsecured 27,503,185 21,462,902

54,373,434 40,409,884

d) The average credit period on sale of goods is 150 days to 180 days (2021: 150 days to 180 days).

e) Trade receivables amounting to AED 46.9 million (2021: AED 35.3 million) is due from the Company’s five
largest customers representing 86% (2021: 87%) of the total outstanding balance at 31 December 2022.

f) Ageing analysis of gross trade receivables are as follows:

Past due
Neither past due 1-90 91-180 above
Total nor impaired days days 180 days
AED AED AED AED AED
2022 54,373,434 42,627,621 8,173,285 1,099,002 2,473,526
2021 40,409,884 33,334,911 5,296,798 - 1,778,175
Information on the credit risk exposure is disclosed in note 28.
14 INVENTORIES
2022 2021
AED AED
Finished goods 11,306,385 2,874,205
Raw materials 3,940,992 9,968,153
Work in progress 14,352,488 8,183,044
Bags, fuel and lubricants 39,268,946 40,986,155
Spare parts — maintenance department 24,152,337 26,196,164
Consumable items 10,486,969 11,163,842
Tools 450,381 448,317

103,958,498 99,819,880

Less: allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories (note (c)) (13,025,555) (21,025,555)

90,932,943 78,794,325

a) Assignment of fire insurance policy over inventories in relation to banking facilities obtained by the Company
(note 19).

b) Inventories are pledged against banking facilities obtained by the Company (note 19).
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14 INVENTORIES (continued)

c) The movement in allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories during the year was as follows:

2022 2021

AED AED
Balance at the beginning of the year 21,025,555 21,025,555
Provisions written back during the year (refer note below) (8,000,000) -

13,025,555 21,025,555

Provisions for slow-moving and obsolete inventories of AED 8 million were written back during the year basis of
health check-up performed by an external party.

15 BANK BALANCES AND CASH

2022 2021
AED AED
Cash on hand 83,491 9,857
Bank balances:
Current accounts 2,464,997 4,298,290
Call deposits 1,226,296 2,874,014
Total bank balances 3,691,293 7,172,304
Bank balances and cash 3,774,784 7,182,161
2022 2021
AED AED
Bank balances
In UAE 2,927,786 5,143,563
In other GCC countries 763,507 2,028,741
3,691,293 7,172,304

Call deposits carry interest at commercial rates per annum and are made for a period of less than three months.

16 SHARE CAPITAL

2022 2021
AED AED
Issued and fully paid:
410,548,410 (2021: 410,548,410) ordinary shares of AED 1 each 410,548,410 410,548,410
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17 RESERVES

According to the Company's Articles of Association and the requirements of the U.A.E. Federal Law No. 32 of 2021,
10% of the profit of each year is transferred to the statutory reserve. The transfer to statutory reserve may be suspended
when it reaches 50% of the paid-up share capital. Statutory reserve is not available for distribution except as stipulated
by the Law.

According to the Company's Articles of Association 10% of the profit for each year is transferred to the voluntary
reserve. The transfer to voluntary reserve may be suspended by the ordinary general assembly at the recommendation
of the Board of Directors or when it reaches 20% of the Company's paid-up share capital.

As of 31 December 2022, the statutory reserve exceeded the 50% of the paid-up share capital. In prior years, upon
the approval and recommendation by the regulatory authorities in the UAE, the management has decided to maintain
the statutory reserve at the same level.

The movement of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Statutory Voluntary
reserve Reserve Total
AED AED AED
Balance at 31 December 2021 343,930,557 4,732,484 348,663,041
Balance at 31 December 2022 343,930,557 4,732,484 348,663,041

18 PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE INDEMNITY

2022 2021

AED AED
Provision as at 1 January 8,480,783 8,815,240
Provided during the year 743,465 548,037
Payments made during the year (644,977) (882,494)
Provision as at 31 December 8,579,271 8,480,783
19 BORROWINGS
a) Short-term

2022 2021

AED AED
Bank overdraft facilities 6,147,904 1,395,827
Short term loan 44,914,216 27,600,747
Total bank borrowings 51,062,120 28,996,574

The Company’s overdraft balances are repayable on demand and short-term loans are repayable within twelve
months. The overdraft balances and short-term loan carries interest rates at market competitive variable rates based
on EIBOR plus a spread and are secured against promissory note issued by the Company and certain other securities
such as assignment of fire insurance policy over inventory (note 14(a)) and movable property, plant and equipment
(note 10 (g)) and pledge over inventories (note 14(b)) and a negative pledge over property, plant and equipment (note
10(f)).

Bank overdraft are considered a form of financing and hence not included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
in the statement of cashflows.
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19 BORROWINGS (continued)

b) Long-term

Interest-bearing term loans are disclosed in the statement of financial position as follows:

2022 2021

AED AED
Current portion 123,428 200,469
Non-current portion - 122,949
Total term loans 123,428 323,418

The term loans carry interest at 3% p.a., are secured against vehicles financed (note 10(e)) and repayable on a monthly
basis with last instalment due on 1 August 2023.

20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021

AED AED
Trade payables 108,811,677 159,260,174
Dividend payable 28,890,514 29,387,071
Accrued expenses 21,734,228 11,202,697
Advances from customers 13,443,152 1,410,742
VAT Payable 814,807 1,102,116
Other payables 629,927 884,211

174,324,305 203,247,011

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities:
- Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on and average of 120 days (2021: 120-day
terms)
- VAT payable are non-interest bearing and are normally settled after one month.
- Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of six months

For explanations on the Company’s liquidity risk management processes, refer to note 28.

21  BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

2022 2021

AED AED
Loss for the year (in AED) (54,403,298) (52,988,325)
Weighted average number of shares 410,548,410 410,548,410
Basic loss per share (in AED) (0.13) (0.13)

The Company has not issued any instruments which would have a dilutive impact on loss per share when exercised.
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22  DIVIDENDS

At the annual general meeting held on 28 March 2022 (2021: 11 April 2021), no dividends were approved by the
shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2021: AED 20.5 million cash dividends were approved which
represents 5% of the Company’s share capital for the year ended 31 December 2020). Shareholders also approved no
remuneration for Board of Directors’ for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

23 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Related parties include the Company’s major Shareholders, directors and businesses controlled by them and their
families over which they exercise significant management influence as well as key management personnel.

a) Related party transactions

During the year, the Company entered into the following transactions with related parties:

2022 2021
AED AED
Attendance expenses for Board of
Directors and committees’ meetings (note 7) 1,059,099 539,447
Profit on the release of a plot of land
owned by the Ras Al Khaimah government (note 9) - 6,691,655
b) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management during the year was as follows:
2022 2021
AED AED
Salaries and other short-term benefits (note below) 4,409,170 3,784,432
Employees’ end of service benefits 316,289 295,252
4,725,459 4,079,684

The amounts disclosed in the table above relating to salaries and other short-term benefits are the amounts recognised
as an expense for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 related to key management personnel.

24 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

2022 2021

AED AED
Letters of credit 29,442,760 61,973,294
Letters of guarantee 36,725 36,725
Capital commitment 974,162 -
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25 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company is organised into two main business segments:

Manufacturing of all types of cement and investments incorporating investments in marketable equity securities, deposits with banks (excluding current accounts) and investment

properties.
2022 2021
Manufacturing  Investments Total Manufacturing Investments Total
AED AED AED AED AED AED
Segment revenue 348,112,911 - 348,112,911 340,637,382 - 340,637,382
Segment result (53,511,490) (891,808) (54,403,298) (64,196,660) 11,208,335 (52,988,325)
Segment assets 814,763,813 19,794,499 834,558,312 798,728,699 83,666,274 882,394,973
Segment liabilities 234,089,124 - 234,089,124 241,047,786 - 241,047,786

There are no transactions between the business segments.
Additional information required by IFRS 8 Segment Reporting, is disclosed below:

a) Information about geographical segments

During the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue from customers located in the Company’s country of domicile (UAE) is AED 120.7 million (2021: AED 75.4 million) and

revenue from customers outside UAE (foreign customers) is AED 227.4 million (2021: AED 265.2 million).

b) Major customers

Revenue includes AED 259.0 million which represents 74% of total revenue (2021: AED 313.8 million which represents 92% of total revenue) from 7 customers (2021: 7

customers).
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26  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. As such, differences can arise between book values and the fair
value estimates. Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the Company is a going concern
without any intention or requirement to materially curtail the scale of its operation or to undertake a transaction on
adverse terms.

Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost
Management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at amortised
cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values, mainly due to short-term maturities.

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined using similar valuation techniques and
assumptions as used in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Fair value of the Company’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on recurring basis
Some of the Company’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting year. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined;

Fair value Fair value  Valuation Relationship of
2022 2021 hierarchy  techniques  Significant unobservable
Financial AED AED and key  unobservable inputs to fair
assets (audited) (audited) inputs input value
Quoted equity Quoted bid
investments prices in an
carried at active
FVTOCI 1,604,728 30,518,920  Level 1 market None N/A
Management
has
used net assets
valuation
Unquoted Net assets method,
equity Adjusted value and which is
investments net assets discount for  appropriate fair
carried at valuation lack of value as per
FVTOCI 618,373 618,373  Level 3 method marketability management
Quoted equity Quoted bid
instruments prices in an
carried at active
FVTPL 9,915,102 37,024,967  Level 1 market None N/A
12,138,203 68,162,260

Fair value hierarchy

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole, as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is

directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is

unobservable
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26 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting year.

There were no changes in the Company’s valuation processes, valuation techniques, and types of inputs used in the
fair value measurements during the year.

2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AED AED AED AED
Investment property - - 6,430,000 6,430,000
Investments carried at FVTPL 9,915,102 - - 9,915,102
Investments carried at FVTOCI:
- Quoted equities 1,604,728 - - 1,604,728
- Unquoted equities - - 618,373 618,373
11,519,830 - 7,048,373 18,568,203
2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AED AED AED AED
Investment property - - 12,630,000 12,630,000
Investments carried at FVTPL 37,024,967 - - 37,024,967
Investments carried at FVTOCI:
- Quoted equities 30,518,920 - - 30,518,920
- Unquoted equities - - 618,373 618,373
67,543,887 - 13,248,373 80,792,260

There were no transfers between the levels during the year. There are no financial liabilities which should be measured
at fair value and accordingly no disclosure is made in the above table.

27  CORPORATE INCOME TAX

On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released Federal Decree-Law No. 47 of 2022 on the Taxation of
Corporations and Businesses (Corporate Tax Law or the Law) to enact a Federal corporate tax (CT) regime in the
UAE. The CT regime will become effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2023.

Generally, UAE businesses will be subject to a 9% CT rate. A rate of 0% will apply to taxable income not exceeding
a particular threshold to be prescribed by way of a Cabinet Decision (expected to be AED 375,000 based on
information released by the Ministry of Finance). In addition, there are several other decisions that are yet to be
finalised by way of a Cabinet Decision that are significant in order for entities to determine their tax status and the
taxable income. Therefore, pending such important decisions by the Cabinet as at 31 December 2022, the Company
has considered that the Law is not substantively enacted from IAS 12 — Income Taxes perspective as at 31 December
2022. The Company shall continue to monitor the timing of the issuance of these critical cabinet decisions to
determine their tax status and the application of IAS 12 — Income Taxes.

The Company is currently in the process of assessing the possible impact on financial statements, both from current
and deferred tax perspective, once these critical cabinet decisions are issued.
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28  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Company’s principal financial liabilities compose of bank borrowings, trade and other payables. The main
purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Company’s operations. The Company’s principal financial assets
include trade receivables, bank balances and other receivables that derive directly from its operations. The Company
also holds investments in equity instruments which are classified as either fair value through profit or loss or fair
value through other comprehensive income.

The Company is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s senior management oversees
the management of these risks. The Company’s senior management is supported by an executive committee that
advises on financial risks and the appropriate financial risk governance framework for the Company. The executive
committee provides assurance to the Company’s senior management that the Company’s financial risk activities are
governed by appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in
accordance with the Company’s policies and risk objectives. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks, which are summarised below.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price
risk, such as equity price risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include bank borrowings, trade
receivables, bank balances and other receivables and investments in equity instruments.

The sensitivity analysis in the following sections relate to the position as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The sensitivity of the relevant statement of profit or loss item or equity is the effect of the assumed changes in
respective market risks. This is based on the financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

There has been no change to the Company’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures
the risk.

a) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to the Company’s short-term deposits with banks at variable interest rates and bank borrowings at floating
rates of interest linked to LIBOR for some facilities and EIBOR for certain other facilities.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the statement of profit or loss to reasonably possible changes in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity of the statement of profit or loss is the effect of
the assumed changes in interest rates on the Company’s results for the year, based on the variable rate financial
liabilities and assets at the reporting date:

Increase/ Effect on
decrease results for the
basis points year in
AED
2022 +50 (255,311)
-50 255,311
2021 +50 (131,224)
-50 131,224

b) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates
primarily to the Company’s operating activities (when revenue or expense is denominated in a foreign currency).

The Company undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence, exposures to exchange rate
fluctuations arise.
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28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Market risk (continued)

b) Foreign currency risk (continued)
The carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
the reporting date are as follows:

Liabilities Assets
2022 2021 2022 2021
AED AED AED AED
US Dollars 77,896,087 112,100,300 - -
Euro 3,229,753 1,095,782 - -
Kuwaiti Dinar - - 2,654,109 42,161,805
Japanese Yen 1,228,655 11,796 - -
Norwegian Krone - - - 8,777,387
82,354,495 113,207,878 2,654,109 50,939,192

The UAE Dirham is currently pegged to the USD, thus the Company is not exposed to the risk on changes in foreign
currency relating to its assets and liabilities denominated in USD. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 10% change in foreign
currency rates against the AED.

The following table shows the sensitivity of the statement of profit or loss to reasonable possible changes in currency
rates, with all other parameters being unchanged.

Increase/ Effect on
Decrease the results
in currency of the year
rate % AED
2022 +10% (180,430)
-10% 180,430
2021 +10% 4,983,161
-10% (4,983,161)
C) Price risk

The Company's listed equity securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future
values of the investment securities. The Company manages the price risk through geographical and risk diversification
and placing limits on individual and total equity instruments. Reports on the equity portfolio are submitted to the
Company's senior management and board of directors on a regular basis.

The effect on statement of comprehensive income due to a reasonably possible change in market indices, with all

other variables held constant is as follows:

2022 2021
Change in Effect on Change in Effect on
equity profit Effect on equity profit Effect on
price or loss OCl price or loss OCl
% AED AED % AED AED
Market indices
UAE +10% 948,375 - +10% 1,706,090 16,215
Other GCC countries +10% 43,135 222,310 +10% 1,996,407 3,035,677

The Company limits market price risk by monitoring developments in the markets.

Method and assumptions for sensitivity analysis

- The sensitivity analysis has been done based on the exposure to equity price risk as at the reporting date.
- A 10% change in equity prices has been used to give a realistic assessment as a plausible event.

44



Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2022

28  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily
trade and other receivables) including short-term deposits with banks.

The Company has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk
of financial loss from defaults. The Company’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously
monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit
exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by the management annually.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or letter
of guarantees). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written-off if past due for more than one year and are
not subject to enforcement activity. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value
of each class of financial assets. The letters of credit and letter of guarantees are considered integral part of trade
receivables and considered in the calculation of impairment.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Company’s trade receivables using a provision
matrix:

2022
Allowance
for Expected
Gross expected credit credit
value losses loss
AED AED (ECL)
Secured trade receivables 26,870,249 27,787 0.10%
Unsecured trade receivables 27,503,185 4,021,764 14.72%
54,373,434 4,049,551
2021
Allowance
for Expected
Gross expected credit credit
value losses loss
AED AED (ECL)
Secured trade receivables 18,946,982 28,529 0.15%
Unsecured trade receivables 21,462,902 2,912,695 13.57%
40,409,884 2,941,224
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Credit risk (continued)
Credit risk with respect to concentration of trade receivables by geographical area is as follows:

2022 2021

AED AED
In UAE 54,363,887 40,366,642
In other GCC countries 9,547 43,242

54,373,434 40,409,884

Credit risk on bank balances are assessed to be minimal as these balances are callable on demand and held with
reputable financial institutions in the UAE and Kuwait. Accordingly, the ECL as at the reporting date against bank
balances is minimal. Credit risk on other financial assets are assessed to be minimal based on historical default and
the fact that they are held with counterparties with creditworthiness evaluated to be good by the Company’s internal
process.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets at the reporting date is limited to the carrying value.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. The Company’s exposure
to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has framed an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Company’s short, medium and long-
term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
reserves and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial
assets and liabilities.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities. The contractual maturities of
the financial liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining year at the reporting date to the contractual
maturity date. The maturity profile is monitored by management to ensure that adequate liquidity is maintained. The
maturity profile of the liabilities at the reporting date based on contractual repayment arrangements was as follows:

Less than 2t012 1to5
1 month months years Total
AED AED AED AED
2022
Trade and other payables 34,226,784 125,839,562 - 160,066,346
Bank borrowings 14,575,459 38,526,069 - 53,101,528
Term loans 18,608 110,399 - 129,007
48,820,851 164,476,030 - 213,296,881
Less than 2t012 1to5
1 month months years Total
AED AED AED AED
2021
Trade and other payables 43,017,116 157,717,037 - 200,734,153
Bank borrowings 10,071,574 19,176,412 - 29,247,986
Term loans 17,803 195,833 124,621 338,257
53,106,493 177,089,282 124,621 230,320,396
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28  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital risk management

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. Consistent with others in
the industry, the Company monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided
by total capital. Net debt is calculated as bank borrowings (including “current and non-current borrowings’ as shown
in the statement of financial position) less bank balances and cash. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in
the statement of financial position.

The gearing ratio at the year end was as follows:

2022 2021

AED AED
Bank borrowings 51,062,120 28,996,574
Less: Bank balances and cash (3,774,784) (7,182,161)
Net debt 47,287,336 21,814,413
Total equity 600,469,188 641,347,187
Net debt to equity ratio (times) 0.08 0.03

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Company’s capital management, among other things, aims to ensure
that it meets financial covenants attached to the banks borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches
in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call borrowings.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

1 January Cash Cash Other 31 December
2022 inflows outflows changes 2022
AED AED AED AED AED
Bank borrowings 28,996,574 174,647,781  (152,582,235) - 51,062,120
Dividends payable 29,387,071 - (496,557) - 28,890,514
Term loans 323,418 - (199,990) - 123,428
58,707,063 174,647,781  (153,278,782) - 80,076,062
1 January Cash Cash Other 31 December
2021 inflows outflows changes 2021
AED AED AED AED AED
Bank borrowings 55,498,001 140,704,544  (167,205,971) - 28,996,574
Dividends payable 28,699,302 - (19,839,651) 20,527,420 29,387,071
Term loans 512,402 - (188,984) - 323,418
84,709,705 140,704,544  (187,234,606) 20,527,420 58,707,063

The “Others’ column includes the effects of dividend declared and accrued during the year that were not yet paid at
the year end. The Company classifies finance cost paid as cash flows from operating activities.
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Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2022

29  APPROVAL OF ANNUAL AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 13 February 2023.

30 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Some of the corresponding figures in the statement of cashflows for previous year have been reclassified in order to
conform to the presentation for the current year. Such reclassifications do not affect previously reported profit or
equity. These changes have been made to improve the comparability of information presented.
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Gulf Cement Company established as a public shareholding company on 31 May 1977, The

Company's authorized and paid-up capital is AED 410,548,410. The company's plant is located in
the Emirate of Ras Al Khaimabh. It has a close proximity to the main raw materials quarries and is
close to Saqr port, facilitating the importation of equipment and materials, exportation of Clinker,
Cement and GGBS. Gulf Cement is one of the largest cement producers in the United Arab

Emirates.

Committed to Chairman of Authority’s Board of Directors’ Decision no. (3/Chairman) of 2020
concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies Governance Guide, the Company issues a
corporate governance report signed by the Chairman, including all data and information in
accordance with the form prepared by the Securities and Commodities Authority, which reflects

the company's keenness on the proper application of the rules of governance.

The Company applies IFRS in the preparation of financial statements in accordance with the
requirements of applicable laws in the United Arab Emirates. Also, study the effects of applying

these standards on the accounting treatment of future transactions.
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(1) Procedures taken to complete the corporate governance

Gulf Cement Company adopts a set of rules, controls and charters that achieve institutional
discipline in the company's relations and management in accordance with international standards
and methods by defining the responsibilities and duties of the board of directors and senior
executive management of the company and taking into consideration the protection of shareholders
'and stakeholders' rights. The company is keen to communicate with the related authorities and
public in order to maintain its position locally, regionally and globally. The company is committed
to implement the Chairman of Authority’s Board of Directors’ Decision no. (3/Chairman) of 2020
concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies Governance Guide and believes in the importance
of applying it to establish the rules of transparency, fairness and accountability based on the best
models, practices and standards in force worldwide.

As part of Board of Directors' keenness to establish a distinguished model of compliance with the
resolution no. (3/Chairman) of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies Governance
Guide, the Company has committed to apply best practices as follows:

Corporate Governance

1. Implementation of policies, procedures and resolutions issued by the SCA on the standards of
institutional discipline and corporate governance of public shareholding companies. In
addition, commit to applying best practices in relation to the Board of Directors and its
committees and dealing transparently with the external auditor and implementing the
resolutions of the General Assembly.

2. Formulation of business rules regarding the transactions of the company’s Board of Directors,
employees and insiders, in addition, formation of a committee reporting to Board of Directors
working to follow up and supervise all transactions of insiders in the company’s shares.

3. Board of Directors has taken all necessary measures to maintain the complete confidentiality
of the company's data and information which has a significant impact in a precise manner to
ensure that it is not exploited and to put in place effective contractual arrangements whereby
the other parties are aware of company’s internal data, information about its customers to
maintain the confidentiality of such data and information and not to misuse, direct or indirect
transfer of such information to any third parties.

4. All insider’s parties to sign on an official declaration that confirm their knowledge that they
acquire internal data and information related to the company and its customers and bear all
the legal effects in case of leaking this information or data or giving advice on the basis of the
information in possession and to notify the company of any transactions on its shares before
and after such transactions.

5. Commitment of any Board of Directors member, who has joint or conflicting interest in a
transaction to inform the Board of Directors to take a decision thereof and to be recorded in
the minutes of the meeting and the related member shall not vote on that decision.

2|Page




g
~ & Gulf Cement Company es.c
- .. . . .
6. The company's keenness to carry out its business transparently and to adopt the disclosure
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and transparency policy of the company in accordance with the requirements of regulatory
authorities and legislations in force.

- Disclosure of periodic reports, material information, the ownership of insiders and their relatives,

transactions of related parties with the Company, and the advantages to the members of the Board of
Directors and the senior executive management.

- Provide information to shareholders and investors accurately and clearly and at the specified times.

7. All the shares issued by the Company within the same class of shares are equal in rights and

obligations and proven to the shareholder all the rights related to the shares in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Law. The Article of Association of the Company and
its internal regulations include the procedures to ensure all rights of shareholders.

8. The Board of Directors formed permanent committees affiliated to it directly and work in

accordance with the standards of corporate discipline and governance of public shareholding
companies to carry out their responsibility according to the authority granted to them.

9. Adopting written detailed rules and regulations for internal audit that define the duties and

responsibilities in accordance with the policy approved by the Board of Directors and the
general requirements and objectives in order to follow up the compliance with the provisions
of the laws, regulations and resolutions in force and the requirements of the regulatory
authorities.

10. All members of the Board of Directors, its employees and its auditor shall have committed to
the rules of code of conduct, policies and internal regulations, and abide by the applicable
laws and regulations.

11. Continuous updating the website of the company, which includes all the information related
to the company www.gulfcement.ae to enhance disclosure and transparency, and to present
any new or material decisions, and is a means to reach the shareholder to see all events
directly.

12. Continuous updating of the “Investor Relations Portal”https://gulfcement.ae/investor-relations-ar /

through which the company seeks to enable investors to have direct access to the latest
information.

The Company is applying all the provisions of the laws, regulations and decisions in force
and the requirements of the supervisory authorities in an optimal manner. These
provisions and rules shall apply to the members of the Board of Directors of the Company

and the executive management and its employees in the performance of their duties.
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(2) Ownership and transactions of the members of the Board of Directors, spouses
and children thereof in the Company's securities during the year 2022

A. The rules of the transactions of the board of directors and employees of the company

The Board of Directors of the Company has adopted written rules regarding the transactions of the
Board of Directors of the Company and its employees and insiders in its shares. The members of
the Board of Directors of the Company are among the persons familiar with the Company's
financial data and internal information. The Board of Directors is keen to raise the level of
transparency in disclosure and full compliance with the laws and regulations of authorities and

markets, the following has been done:

- The committee is responsible for the management, follow-up, and supervision of insiders' trading
and their ownerships, and keep their record.

- Prepare a special and integrated register for all insiders, including persons who may be considered

as persons with temporary insiders and who are entitled or have access to the company's internal
information prior to publication. This record includes the prior and subsequent disclosures of the
insiders.

The rules of trading of the members of the Board of Directors of the Company, its employees and
insiders in its shares expressly stated the prohibited trading periods provided for in Article No.
(14) of Resolution No. (2) for the year 2001 issued by the Board of Directors of SCA regarding
the system for trading and clearing, which stipulates that the chairman and members of the board
of directors of the listed company are prohibited from trading their securities and their general
manager or any of the employees who are aware of the material information of the company trading
with himself or for his account by third parties or in any other capacity for the account of others.
The parent company, affiliate, sister or associate of that company if any of these companies are

listed on the market during the following periods:

- Before ten (10) working days from the announcement of any material information, unless the
information is the result of sudden events.

- Before fifteen (15) days from the end of the quarter, semi-annual or annual financial period until
disclosure of the financial statements.
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B. The table below shows the shares owned by the Board of Directors and transactions as of 31

December 2022 as follows:

SN Name Position Shares Held as Total Sale Total Purchase
/Relationship at 31/12/2022 Transactions Transactions

Sheikh Kayed Omar Sager Mohamed Alqassimi -

1 CHAIRMAN :
Represented by (Government Of Ras Al Khaimah) 29,819,631

, Mr. Hamad Ahmed Hamad Alameeri VICE 3,306 _ _
Represented by (National Investments Company) CHAIRMAN 1,000,000 B B

3 | Sheikh Omar Saqr Khaled Alqassimi MEMBER -- - -

4 | Mr. Abdulla Mohammed Hassan Mohammed Al Hosani MEMBER 5,000 -- -

5 | Mr. Hammed Fahad Hamad Alwnais MEMBER 53,850 - -
Mr. Husam Mohammed El-Sayed Hussein

6 Represented by (Al-Khair National For Stocks & Real MEMBER 5,000 -- --
Estate Co.)

7 | Ms. Dalya Mohammed Al Shehhi MEMBER 5,000 - -

Based on the above table and controls:

=  There is no trading during 2022 on the shares of the company by relatives of the Board of

Directors members (Spouses & their children).

= All members of the board of directors of the company and the insiders are committed to

the rules of trading, laws, regulations and resolutions issued related to trading in the

securities of the company, either during periods of prohibition of trading or during other

periods.
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(3) Board of Directors

The Board of Directors shall be deemed to have the power to carry out all acts on behalf of the Company
and to exercise all powers required to achieve its purposes. Such powers shall not be restricted except by
the law or the Company's Articles. The Company's Articles of Association stipulate that the Board shall be
composed of seven members elected by the General Assembly by cumulative secret voting.

A. Composition of the Board of Directors

The current members of the Board of Directors were elected through the Company's General Assembly
held on April 11,2021 for a period of three years starting from the date of their election. The Company has
taken into consideration the requirements of Corporate Governance Rules in accordance with the
Company's Articles of Association that formation of the Board of Directors to be at least most of the
members are independent members and the majority to be non-executive members who have practical
experience and technical skills belong to the interest of the company. The below table shows board of
directors’ composition:

Memberships and

Name Category Experience Qualifications 2P ember 3,‘:2:';:,’,‘:,";,2’;‘{(
companies
Sheikh Kayed Omar Sager
Mohamed Algassimi Non B.5c.
q Independent _ Business Man Accounting 2018 -
Represented by (Government executive and Econom
Of Ras Al Khaimah) Y
- Chairman of National
Investment Co.
Mr. Hamad Ahmed Hamad Assistant General Manager
Alameeri Non- Non- e 8 B.Sc. 2004 untill
Represented by (National independent executive Department Accounting Nov 2022
Investments Compan ’
pany) - General Manager of National
Investment Co.
Director of Procurement Department
at Ras Al Khaimah Cement Company
Executive Director of Issuance of Bachelor of
Bonds with the Government of Ras Al Arts in
Khaimah :
International
Sheikh Omar Sagr Khaled Non- i i i ) ) )
' q Independent ] Cha\rman of the Crgdlt Rating Review Studies with Aprll 2021 _
AIanSImI executive Committee responsible for managing .
ratings for the Government of Ras Al Concentration
Khaimah in
Chairman of the Investment Portfolio International
Review Committee of the Economics
Government of Ras Al Khaimah
Banking experience-FAB B BOAD_ Men;berkat
) ) amn ban
Mr.  Abdulla  Mohammed Non- Investments experience at B.Sc. Accountin !
X Independent _ P € 2018 - BOD Member at
Hassan Mohammed Al Hosani executive  Alsahel Shares Centre and Economy .
Union Insurance
Company
Mr. Husam Mohammed El- -Executive Director of Alkhair
Sayed Hussein Non Non national Co. - Alkharafi group B.Sc.
Represented by  (Al-Khair independent executive -CEO of Gulf National Holding Commerce 2018 -
National For Stocks & Real P -CFO of Alkharafi group in CMA (USA)
Estate Co.) Syria and Lebanon
Investment Recruitment Manager for
GFH
Mr. Hammed Fahad Hamad Non- Asset Management Analyst at Audi Bachelor of
Al - Independent i Capital Business April 2021 -
Wnais executive Administrative Assistant in the Administration
Finance and Administration in Accounting
Department at the United Arab Bank
Diverse experience in the field of laws Diploma in
Ms. Dalya Mohammed Al Non- ) and regulations issued in the UAE : )
. . Executive ) ) Business April 2021 -
Shehhi independent Director of Investor Relations

Department

Administration

Positions in any
other important
supervisory,
governmental or
business entities

® Resignation of Mr. Hamad Ahmed Hamad Alameeri (representative of the National Investments Company)
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors on November 09, 2022, and Mr. Husam Mohammed El-Sayed Hussein
was appointed as Vice-Chairman of the Board on November 09, 2022.
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B. Women'’s representation in the Board of Directors for 2022

As per Article (19) of the Article of Association of Gulf Cement Company, the company is
managed by a Board of Directors consisting of seven members, as follows:

Description Number %
Male 6 85%
Female 1 15%

C. Directors' Remuneration

The remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors shall be determined according to the provisions
of Article (169) of Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 of Commercial Companies and the provisions of Article (29)
of the SCA Chairman's Resolution No. (3/Chairman) of 2020 and Article (58) of the Article of Association
of the Company.

Remuneration of the Chairman and members of the Board of Directors is made up of a percentage of the
net profit not exceeding 10% of the fiscal year profits. The Company may also pay expenses, fees, additional
bonuses; a monthly salary as decided by the Board of Directors to any of its members if this member works
in any committee, makes special efforts, or additional work to serve the Company in addition to his regular
duties as a member of the Board of Directors. Attendance allowance may not be paid to the Chairman or a
Board member for attending the Board meetings.

The fines imposed on the Company due to contraventions by the Board of Directors of the Companies Law
or the Articles of Association of the Company during the ending financial year shall be deducted from the
remuneration of the Board of Directors. The general assembly may not deduct such fines if it finds that
such fines are not due to omission or error by the Board of Directors.

1. Total remuneration of Board members paid for the year 2021

There are no remuneration paid to the members of the Board of Directors for the financial year ended

December 31, 2021.

2. Total remuneration of Board members proposed for 2022

The remuneration of the members of the board of directors is determined by a proposal from the board of
directors to be submitted to the general assembly. However, it should not exceed 10% of the net profit for
the fiscal year ending on December 31, 2022, after deduction of all the depreciation and reserves. Since the
company has not attained profits for the year 2022 No remuneration proposal will be presented to the

members of the Board of Directors.
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3. Allowances for attending the sessions of the committees emanating from the Board of

Directors for the year 2022

There are no allowances paid to members of the BOD for attending the meetings of the committees for the

year 2022.

4. Additional allowances, salaries or fees received by a board member other than the

allowances for attending the committees for the year 2022
There are no additional allowances, salaries or fees paid to members of the BOD for the year 2022.

D. Board of Directors' meetings during the financial year ended 31 December 2022

In accordance with the provisions of Article (23) of the resolution of SCA no. (3/Chairman) of
2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies Governance Guide and in accordance with
the provisions of Article (28) of the Article of Association of the Company, that the Board of
Directors shall conduct its meetings at least four times a year and the meeting shall be based on a
written invitation from the Chairman of the Board, or upon the written request of at least two
members of the Board. The invitation shall be sent not less than one week prior to the specified
date together with the agenda. Each member has the right to add to the agenda any matter he deems
necessary for discussion in the meeting.

In accordance with the above controls, the Board of Directors of the Company held 5 meetings
during the financial year ended 31 December 2022, as shown in the following table:

Number of

. Date of the Number of Names of absent
Number of meeting . attendance by
meeting Attendees members
proxy
1 14/02/2022 7 - -
2 28/03/2022 6 - 1
3 17/05/2022 7 - -
4 11/08/2022 7 - -
Resigned member

5 09/11/2022 6 -

M
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E. Resolutions of the Board of Directors issued by passing during the year 2022
There are no resolutions issued by passing during the fiscal year 2022

F. Board of Directors’ tasks and functions, which were performed by the Executive
Management during the year 2022

In accordance with the provisions of Article (27) of the resolution of SCA no. (3/Chairman) of
2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies Governance Guide, and the provisions of
Article (25) of the Company's Articles of Association:

- The Board of Directors may delegate its Chairman or one of its members or Executive Management in
some of the administrative issues in which the Board has the power to make decisions. In this case, the
delegation shall be in writing and detailing the delegated powers, especially with regard to cases in
which the Senior Executive Management needs to obtain prior approval from the Board of Directors
before making any decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company. A list of
tasks and functions which the Board of Directors performs shall be written, as well as those delegated
to Senior Executive Management, and those tasks and functions shall be reviewed periodically.

- Each delegation shall be specific with regard to its subject, delegated persons, and the limits of their
powers and in the duration, and that includes the date of presenting its results to the Board of Directors.

- The Chairman of the Board of Directors, Vice chairman deputy or any other member authorized by the
Board shall have the right to sign separately on behalf of the company.

In accordance with the above controls, the executive management of the Company shall conduct
the day-to-day operations in accordance with the best practices of governance and the provisions
of the Article of association.

G. Details of transactions with related parties (stakeholders) during the year 2022

According to Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 for Commercial Companies and SCA resolution no.
(3/Chairman) of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies Governance Guide and
Company's Articles of Association:

- The Company shall not enter into transactions with Related Parties without the consent of
the Board of Directors in cases where the value of the transaction does not exceed (5%) of
the Company's capital, and with the approval of the general assembly where such
percentage threshold is exceeded.

- A member of the board of directors of the company who has a common or conflicting
interest in a transaction or deal to be submitted to the board of directors to take a decision
thereon and shall inform the board of this and record it in the minutes of the meeting. He
shall not participate in voting on the decision issued in respect of this transaction.

- The Company shall maintain a register for Related Parties where the names of such parties
shall be recorded with their transactions, in details, and actions taken in relation thereto.

In accordance with the above controls, no transactions with related parties (stakeholders)
were made during the fiscal year ended 31 December 2022, and this was ascertained through
the disclosure form of transactions of related parties (stakeholders) and through the
Company's records.
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H. The organizational structure of the company

Board of Director

Gulf Cement Company has been developing and implementing an efficient and effective
organizational structure at the level of the company's departments and sections to ensure a high
level of coordination and management interaction. The chart below shows the company's

organizational structure approved by the Board of the company as follows:

Audit Committee

Executive Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Chief Operating Chief Finance
Officer Officer

Chief Operating Officer
- Adminstration
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I. Statement of the company's senior executives

The table below shows the dates of appointment of the executive management members and their
current positions according to the organizational structure of the company and the salaries and

bonuses granted for 2022.

Total Salaries Total Any other
Appointment and Bonuses Cash/in-kind
Position ppdate Allowances paid for bounses for 2022
paid for 2022 2022 or due in the
(AED, (AED, future
Cheif Operating Officer 2013 631,060 - -
Cheif Operating Officer - 1995 560,443 ; i
Adminstration

Cheif Financial Officer 2016 519,563 - .
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(4) External Auditor

First : Policy of contracting with the external auditor:

In accordance with the SCA resolution no. (3/Chairman) of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint
Stock Companies Governance Guide and the Company's Article of Association, the Board of
Directors of the Company is committed to the policy of selecting the external auditor through
nomination to the General Assembly in order to organize the appointment process which sets out
the framework, scope, powers and obligations of the External Auditor, the Board of Directors is
keen to facilitate the External Auditor's duties according to the requirements and standards.

The Executive Management as per request of the Audit Committee to provide it with offers from
the audit companies. The Committee shall study them and meet and discuss with the external
auditors, and nominate based on the efficiency, reputation and experience. Appointment of
external auditor and determination of fees shall be determined by a resolution of the General
Assembly.

If the Board of Directors does not approve the Audit Committee's nomination, appointment or
resignation, or the dismissal of the External Auditor, the Board of Directors shall make a statement
in the Governance Report explaining the recommendations of the Audit Committee and the reasons
for not taking them.

Second:

A. External auditor of the company

Ernst and Young were appointed as the company's external auditor for the year 2022 through the
company's general assembly, which is a company headquartered in London. E&Y was established
in 1989 and each of its member companies has an independent legal personality of its own,
providing auditing services, taxes, management consulting and advice Finance to clients from the
public and private sectors in a wide range of economic fields through an interconnected global
network of member companies in more than 140 countries worldwide.

Furthermore, It has a group of consultants with distinguished competencies to provide high-quality
services to clients through effective solutions to meet the challenges facing their operations, Ernst
and Young are considered one of the leading professional companies that perform auditing and tax
services, management consulting and financial advice and one of the largest professional services
companies In the world and one of the big four accounting firms.
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B. Fees of the External Auditor during the year 2022

Name of Auditing Firm Ernst & Young

Partner Name Wardah Ebrahim

Number of years served as an external

auditor for the Company 4 Year’s
Number of years served as an the partner
. 1 Year
auditor for the Company
Total audit fees for 2022 (in AED) AED 248,000

Fees and costs of other private services
other than auditing the financial -
statements for 2022 (in AED)

Details and nature of the other services (if
any). If there are no other services, this -
matter shall be stated expressly

Statement of other services that an
external auditor other than the Company -
accounts auditor provided during 2022

C. Reservations that the company auditor included in the interim and annual

financial statements for 2022

There are no reservations that the company’s auditor included in the interim and annual
financial statements for 2022.
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Committees of the Board of Directors

According to the Chairman of the Authority’s Board of Directors Decision no. (3/Chairman) of
2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies Governance Guide, the Board of Directors
has formed permanent committees that follow it directly in order to contribute to the
implementation of its tasks, and these committees play a fundamental role in supporting the Board
in carrying out the tasks and duties entrusted with them in the management of the company, and
each committee operates within the scope of its competence approved by the Board.

The Board has established procedures that specify the mission of the Committee, the duration of
its work, the powers granted to it, the manner in which the Board of Directors supervises it, and
the tasks assigned to it. The Committee presents a written report of the procedures, results and
recommendations with absolute transparency.

(5) Audit Committee

A. Acknowledgement of the Audit Committee’s Chairman regarding his responsibility for
the committee’s system

In accordance with the requirements of Article (61) of the Chairman of Authority's Board of
Directors' Decision no. (3/Chairman) of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies
Governance Guide. Mr. Abdullah Muhammad Hassan Muhammad Al Hosani - Chairman of
the Committee - acknowledges his responsibility for the committee’s system in the company and
for examination of the mechanism of its work and ensure its effectiveness for the year 2022.

B. Names of members of the audit committee, and a statement of its functions and the
duties assigned there to:

The Board of Directors elected by the General Assembly held on April 11, 2021 has formed the Audit
Committee to support the Board of Directors in many areas and in accordance with the requirements of
Article (58) of the Chairman of Authority's Board of Directors' Decision no. (3/Chairman) of 2020
concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies Governance Guide. The Audit Committee consists of three
non-executive members, two of them are independent members. The Committee is chaired by one of them.
All members of the Committee have knowledge and experts in financial and accounting matters with
previous work experience in the financial field and they have a financial certificate and the names of
members as follows:

Name Position Category

Mr. Abdulla Mohammed Hassan Mohammed Al Hosani HEAD Independent

Mr. Husam Mohammed El-Sayed Hussein

Represented by (Al-Khair National For Stocks & Real Member Non - Independent
Estate Co.)
Mr. Hammed Fahad Hamad Alwnais Member Independent
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» Duties of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is undertaking its duties as per the requirements of SCA resolution
no. (3/Chairman) of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies Governance
Guide, as follows:

1. Review the Company’s financial and accounting policies and procedures.

2. Monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements and reports (annual, semi-annual, and
quarterly) and review thereof as part of its normal work during the year, and the committee shall particularly
focus on the following:

Any changes in accounting policies and practices;

Highlighting the aspects that are subject to the management’s discretion;

Substantial amendments resulting from auditing;

Supposing continuity of the Company’s business;

Commitment to the accounting standards approved by the Authority;

Commitment to the listing and disclosure rules and any other legal requirements related to preparation
of financial reports.

ANENENENENEN

3. Coordinating with the Company’s Board of Directors, Senior Executive Management, and the financial
manager or the manager doing such role in the Company, for the purpose of performing its duties.

4. Considering important and unusual clauses that are or shall be mentioned in such reports and accounts,
the committee shall also pay the required attention to any issues brought up by the financial manager, the
manager doing such role, compliance officer, or the auditor.

5. Submitting a recommendation to the Board of Directors respecting selection, resignation, or discharge
of the auditor, and in case the Board of Directors rejects the recommendation of the Audit Committee in
this regard, the Board of Directors shall include in the Governance Report a statement clarifying the Audit
Committee recommendations and the reasons for the Board of Directors’ rejection thereof.

6. Setting and implementing the policy of contracting with the auditor, submitting a report to the Board of
Directors, specifying the issues the committee deems necessary to take procedures in relation to, and
submitting the committee’s recommendations concerning the steps required to be taken;

7. Ensuring the auditor’s fulfillment of the terms stipulated in the applicable laws, regulations, and
resolutions and the Company’s Articles of Association, and following up and monitoring his/her
independence.

8. Meeting with the Company’s auditor without attendance of any of the personnel of the Senior Executive
Management or representative thereof, at least once annually, and discussing with the auditor the nature
and scope of the auditing process and its effectiveness according to the approved auditing standards.

9. Studying all that is related to the auditor’s job, work plan, correspondence with the Company, comments,
proposals, concerns, and any substantial inquiries posed by the auditor to the Senior Executive Management
concerning accounting books, financial accounts, or control systems, and following up the Company’s
board of Directors response thereto and provision of the facilities required for performing the auditor’s job.

10. Ensuring timely response of the Board of Directors to inquiries for illustration and substantial matters
mentioned in the auditor’s letter.
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1 1. Review and assessment of internal audit and risk management systems in the Company.

12. Discussing the internal audit system with the Board of Directors and ensuring the latter’s establishment
of an effective system for internal audit;

13. Considering the results of primary investigations in internal audit issues as assigned to the committee
by the Board of Directors or based on an initiative on the part of the committee and the Board of director’s
approval of such initiative.

14. Review of the auditor’s assessment of internal audit procedures and ensuring coordination between the
internal and external auditors.

15. Ensuring availability of the resources required for the internal audit department, and reviewing and
monitoring the effectiveness of such department.

16. Studying internal audit reports and following up the implementation of corrective measures for the
comments arising from such reports.

17. Setting the rules that enable the Company’s staff to confidentially report any potential violations in
financial reports, internal audit, or any other issues and the procedures sufficient for conducting independent
and fair investigations concerning such violations.

18. Monitoring the extent to which the Company complies with the code of conduct;

19. Review of Related Party transactions with the Company, managing conflict of interests, and submitting
recommendations concerning such transactions to the Board of Directors before concluding the contracts.

20. Ensuring implementation of code of conduct related to the committee’s duties and powers assigned to
it by the Board of Directors.

21. Submitting reports and recommendations to the Board of Directors concerning the above mentioned issues.
22. Considering any other issues determined by the Board of Directors.
C. Audit Committee meetings during 2022

As per Article (62) of SCA resolution no. (3/Chairman) of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint
Stock Companies Governance Guide, the Audit Committee shall conduct its meeting once every
three months at least or whenever the need arises. Audit Committee has conducted four meetings
during the fiscal year ended 31 December 2022 in the presence of all its members in person. The
meetings of the Committee were as follows:

Number of meeting Date of the meeting l::tr:::;:: Names of absent members
1 14/02/2022 3
2 17/05/2022 3
3 11/08/2022 3
4 09/11/2022 3
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(6) Nominations and Remuneration Committee

A. Acknowledgement of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee’s Chairman
regarding his responsibility for the committee’s system

In accordance with the requirements of Article (59) of the Chairman of Authority's Board of
Directors' Decision no. (3/Chairman) of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies
Governance Guide. Sheikh / Omar Saqr Khaled Algassimi - Chairman of the Committee -
acknowledges his responsibility for the committee’s system in the company and for examination

of the mechanism of its work and ensure its effectiveness for the year 2022.

B. Names of members of the Nomination and Remuneration committee, and a statement
of its functions and the duties assigned there to:

The Board of Directors elected by the General Assembly held on April 11, 2021 has formed the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee to support the Board of Directors in many areas and in
accordance with the requirements of Article (58) of the Chairman of Authority's Board of
Directors' Decision no. (3/Chairman) of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies
Governance Guide. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists of three non-executive
members, two of them are independent members. The Committee is chaired by one of them and

the names as follows:

Name Position Category
Sheikh Omar Sagr Khaled Algassimi HEAD Independent
Mr. Hamad Ahmed Hamad Alameeri Member Non - Independent

Represented by (National Investments Company)

Mr. Hammed Fahad Hamad Alwnais Member Independent
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> Tasks of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is undertaking its duties as per the requirements of
SCA resolution no. (3/Chairman) of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies
Governance Guide, as follows:

L.

W

10.

1.

A,

Setting a policy for nomination of the Board and executive management membership with the aim
of varying between the two genders in the Board and encouraging female nominees through
offering privileges and training and motivational programs, and submitting a copy of such policy
to the Authority.

Regulating and following up the procedures of nomination for Board membership in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations, as well as the provisions of this Decision.

Verify that the membership conditions for the members of the Board of Directors are still met.
Constantly verifying independence of independent Board members.

Setting the policy for granting bonuses, privileges, incentives, and salaries to the Company’s Board
members and staff, reviewing such policy annually, and ensuring that the bonuses and privileges
offered to the Senior Executive Management are reasonable and in line with the Company’s
performance.

Annual review of the skills required for Board membership and preparation of the required
capabilities and qualifications for Board membership including the time a member shall need to
allocate to do his/her duties as a Board member.

Review the requirements of suitable skills for the membership of the Board of Directors.

Review the Board of Directors structure and submitting recommendations regarding the changes
that may be made.

Determining the Company’s needs of qualifications at the Senior Executive Management and the
staff levels and the criteria for selection thereof.

Setting the Company’s human resources and training policy, monitoring implementation of such
policy, and reviewing thereof on annual basis.

Any other matters determined by the Board of Directors.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee meetings during 2022

As per Article (59) of SCA resolution no. (3/Chairman) of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint
Stock Companies Governance Guide, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall conduct
its meetings at least once annually or as required. Nominations and Remuneration conducted 2
meetings during the fiscal year ended 31 December 2022 were attended by all its members, as the
following table:

Number of meeting Date of the meeting Number of Attendees Names of absent members

14/02/2022 3 -

11/08/2022 3 -
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(7) Insiders’ Trading Follow-Up and Supervision Committee

In accordance with SCA resolution no. (3/Chairman) of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock
Companies Governance Guide. The Board of Directors aware of its obligations regarding the
requirements for disclosure of trading on the company's shares and the importance of identifying
the insiders in the company.

The BOD formed a committee specialized in the affairs of insiders concerned with follow-up and
supervision of all trading of insiders and their ownership and reporting to the concern authorities,
and identify the members of the Committee and the functions and tasks assigned to it.

A. Acknowledgment of the insiders’ Trading Follow-Up and Supervision Committee’s
Chairman

In accordance with the requirements of the Chairman of Authority's Board of Directors' Decision
no. (3/Chairman) of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies Governance Guide and
the decision of the Board of Directors regarding the formation of a committee specializing in
insiders affairs, Mrs. Dalya Mohammad Al-Shehhi - Chairman of the committee -
acknowledges her responsibility for the committee system in the company and for examination of
the mechanism of its work and ensure its effectiveness for the year 2022.

B. Committee Members:

1. Ms. Dalya Mohammed Al-shehhi HEAD
2. Ms. Badreyya Mohammed Member
3. Mr. Majid Abdullah Naser Member

C. Functions and the duties assigned to it:

1. Manage, monitor and supervise the transactions of insiders and their ownership and keep their
register.

2. Prepare a special register for all persons who are permanent and temporary insiders and who are
entitled or have access to the company's internal information.

3. Keeping the record of past and subsequent disclosures of the insiders.

4. Keep official declarations of persons who are aware and temporarily aware of the company's
internal information.

5. To ensure continuous updating of the Company's list of insiders on ADX website and to update this

list immediately when required.

Monthly follow-up of insiders balances.

Issuing periodic reports on insider transactions to SCA & ADX upon their request.

Inform all insiders about the required controls, by signing official declarations.

Continue to notify insiders of prohibition periods of trading

0. Review and monitor the trading policy of insiders in accordance with the rules of disclosure,

transparency and take necessary action.

11. Continuous monitoring of the regulations and decisions issued by the SCA in this regard and the

mechanism for their implementation.

= 0 0N
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(C) A summary of the Committee’s activities during the year 2022

The Committee was keen to implement everything related to governance controls through the
powers and tasks entrusted to it, as it made an important and effective role in managing insiders'
and communicating the goals, policies and controls that they are subject to, in addition to making
sure that they are notified in advance of the periods of prohibition imposed by the Securities and
Commodities Authority rules and regulations. And the Abu Dhabi Stock Exchange, and the need
not to directly or indirectly exploit any internal or material information to achieve an interest or
benefit and the responsibility that falls on them, and the Committee has made sure of the following:

1.

The existence of transactions on the company’s shares for some members of the board of
directors in the company’s securities other than the prohibition periods, and this was confirmed
through (reviewing the company’s main stock register, reviewing a statement from the Abu
Dhabi Securities Exchange and the Kuwait Clearing Company, and a disclosure form for the
shares owned by board members).

The spouses and children of the members of the Board of Directors have no dealings on the
company’s shares, and this was confirmed through the disclosure form submitted by the
members of the Board.

Updating the list of permanent insiders immediately on the website of the Abu Dhabi Stock
Exchange and the SCA.

Confirm the monthly balances of insider’s through the company's main register at the end of
each month.

Acquire official declarations from the permanent insiders about company’s information when
a change has occurred continuously in order to preserve its confidentiality and not to misuse it
or transfer it or cause it to be transferred directly or indirectly to other parties. Also, bear
everyone legal responsibility in the case of a violation of what was stated in the declarations
and keep a record of those declarations.

Obtaining official declarations from temporary insiders of the company’s information during
the year 2021, in order to maintain its confidentiality and not to misuse or transfer it or cause
it to be transferred directly or indirectly to other parties, and everyone bears legal responsibility
in the event of a breach of what is stated in the declaration Ensure that a special record of such
declarations is kept.

Notify the insiders of the prohibition periods, as it was confirmed to address the chairman,
members of the board of directors and all the insiders regarding the prohibition periods for
trading in the company’s shares until the financial statements are disclosed.

20| Page




LA o

Gulf Cement Company rs.c

®

(8) Executive Committee

According to decision of the Board of Directors the Executive Committee was formed in
accordance with the law and regulations of the Company's governance and articles of association
"Article No. 37". The Committee shall be composed of members of the BOD who determined its
functions, duration of work and powers granted to it, and shall submit its results and
recommendations to the Board of Directors.

A. Acknowledgment of the Executive Committee’s Chairman

According to the tasks and the authority gave to it by the board. Sheikh / Kayed Omar Saqr
Mohammad Al Qasimi - Chairman of the Committee - acknowledges his responsibility for the
committee’s system in the company and for examination of the mechanism of its work and ensure
its effectiveness for the year 2022 as follows:

B. Committee members

Name Position
Sheikh Kayed Omar Sager Mohamed Algassimi HEAD
Mr. Abdulla Mohammed Hassan Mohammed Al Hosani Member

Mr. Husam Mohammed El-Sayed Hussein Member

Ms. Dalya Mohammed Ali Al Shehhi Member
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> Statement of its functions and the duties

1.Draw the strategic objectives, plans and policies of the company and submit them to the Board
for discussion and approval.

2.Discussing and approving the annual budgets estimated by the executive management of the
company before submitting them to the Board of Directors through the Audit Committee for
discussion and approval.

3.Review the organizational structure of the company and make the necessary adjustments before
submit to the Board of Directors through the Nominations and Remuneration Committee for
discussion and approval.

4.Continuous evaluation of the performance of key managerial positions of the company to ensure
their effectiveness and ability to achieve the strategic objectives entrusted to them and replace
them with others when required.

5.Continuous review of implementation of policies, procedures and controls related to sales,
procurement and operation issued by the Board, establishing the detailed regulations necessary
to manage them in a tight manner and determining the scope and ceiling of authorizations
available to the Executive Management by the Committee, as per BOD governance.

6.Approve the implementation mechanism for all contracts to which the company is a party,
whether related to procurement, sales or services in accordance with stability of operations.
Establish regulatory procedures that will ensure that the proper governing procedures.

7.Study and approval of new capital projects before submission to the Board of Directors for
discussion and approval.

C. Executive committee meetings during 2022

Number of Date of the Number of Names of absent
meeting meeting Attendees members
1 30/06/2022 4 -
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(9) Internal audit System

Internal audit Department is fully independent and directly affiliated to the Board of Directors, it
implements audit and control policies, which aim to assess the Company's risk management
procedures, contribute to the proper application of the Company's governance rules and verify the
compliance of the Company and its employees with the provisions of laws and regulations.
Reviewing financial statements, and reviewing accounting policies and practices.

Internal audit Department has the full authority to access all documents and records of the company
and its employees' data and transactions. The Internal audit Department is committed to ensure the
strict implementation of the decisions issued by the Board of Directors or its Chairman and its
committees to the Executive Management. All departments and employees shall cooperate with
the Internal audit Department to solve issues and events facing the company. In case of non-
cooperation of any employee, the ICD shall be obliged to submit a report to the Board.

BOD defines the most important objectives and tasks of IAD as follows:

- Ensure the validity and integrity of work procedures in all departments of the company.

- Determining the extent to which the company complies with the requirements of governance and
codes of ethics.

- Ensure the commitment of any party dealing with the company and the employees of the company
to apply the rules of governance and institutional discipline and code of ethics.

- Preventing, detecting and correcting errors.
- Ensure compliance of employees with the laws, regulations and policies of the company.
- Review the integrity of assets and verify the actual presence of it.

- Conduct regular and periodic reviews of various activities and report on findings and
recommendations.

- Cooperation with the external auditor to implement the resolutions of the General Assembly.

- Cooperation with the executive management to achieve the objectives of the Board of Directors.

- Ensuring the accuracy of accounting records and their integration so they can be reliable for taking
higher decisions.

Based on the above, the Board of Directors is responsible for the Company's internal audit

system, which has sufficient authority to apply the rules of governance throughout the

Company and to achieve transparency and fairness.
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B. The name, qualifications, and date of appointment of the Internal audit Manager

Ms. Badreyya Mohamed Ali Hassoon Al-Shehhi appointed as Manager of the Internal Audit
Department and performs the duties of Compliance Officer on 01.01.2020, as she has an MBA

Finance and Bachelor's degree in Business Administration, and has accounting experience.

C. How the Internal Audit Department handle any significant issues in the company, or
issues disclosed in the annual reports and accounts:

Internal audit Department has evaluated the risk management, procedures of the company,
reviewed the internal policies and the implementation of the company's governance rules, verified
the company's compliance with the laws and resolutions, and submitted periodic reports to the

Board of Directors and Audit Committee.

The Internal audit department deals with any challenges in the company independently and
objectively by informing the Audit Committee and informing the senior executive management of
the problem and potential risks and proposing the necessary steps to address the problem and
ensure that it is not repeated and follow up with senior management to ensure of the procedures

and decisions has been taken.

D. Number of reports issued by the internal audit department to the company’s board of
directors

The Internal Audit Department submitted 4 periodic reports to the Board of Directors during the
year 2022.

24| Page




%;% LA o

\ ~ & Gulf Cement Company es.c
&

(10)Violations during the year 2022

The company was keen to comply with federal and local laws and ministerial decisions and
governance of the Board of Directors, and achieved justice with all Stakeholders, which is in line
with the good reputation of the company. During the year 2022, the company did not commit any
violations and did not face any penalties either by governmental or private parties.

-

(11) Company contributions toward the local community development and
environmental conservation

First: Contributions:

The UAE society has a well-established specificity and a lofty goal in the company’s strategies,
and it is a national responsibility that establishes basic foundations for the tasks entrusted to
everyone, and the company is an integral part of the surrounding community and works with all
sincerity and belonging to consolidate effective community partnerships, the Gulf Cement
Company continues to support social activity of all kinds with a package of contributions
Voluntary work, according to the laws and regulations followed in the country, and works to ensure
that all its employees are an active and influential part of society, and in implementation of Federal
Law No. (2) of 2015 regarding commercial companies and its amendments, and Article No. (65)
of the company’s articles of association regarding voluntary contributions, which authorized
Companies pay voluntary contributions, and the law obligates that voluntary contributions do not
exceed (2%) of the average net profit of the company during the two fiscal years preceding the
year in which those voluntary contributions are made, and since the company did not make profits
in the two fiscal years (2021 & 2022), it did not Cash contributions are to be made during the year
2022, but the company was keen to continue providing its in-kind and service contributions by
providing building materials. Various and its services to help citizens with limited income from
the local community and public utilities.

Second: Environmental conservation:

The company is keen to adhere to the implementation of the laws and decisions issued by the
Ministry of Climate Change and Environment and the Environmental Protection Authority in Ras
Al Khaimah, and to implement the policy of the Board of Directors that the company is a pioneer
in its field of work by applying the relevant best practices under the slogan of a sustainable
environment and a green product. The Gulf environment and its sustainability are of the utmost
importance and believe that it is one of the main goals that require attention and focus. This is
represented in its efforts in environmental sustainability projects that contribute to preserving
natural resources and reducing carbon emissions resulting from production processes in furnaces,
which confirms its excellence in environmental leadership, and the company is also working on
Supporting the country's orientations towards a green economy through continuous environmental
projects with the best and latest international technology that is commensurate with the prestigious
position of the United Arab Emirates.
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(12)General information

A. The Company share price in the Market (closing price, highest price, lowest price) in the

end of each month during fiscal year 2022

Highest price = Lowest price = Closing price Quantity Value
Date
(AED) (AED) (AED) (Shares) (AED)
January 0.719 0.632 0.655 ,633,7276 4,498,800
February 0.714 0.643 0.680 6,380,116 4,347,297
March 0.706 0.620 0.659 4,200,936 2,752,732
April 0.668 0.625 0.649 5,192,468 3,286,559
May 0.669 0.512 0.550 2,567,645 1,540,502
June 0.645 0.495 0.549 1,318,189 710,787
July 0.550 0.450 0.544 653,505 333,260
August 0.560 0.481 0.520 2,524,629 1,293,667
September 0.520 0.462 0.462 4,752,809 2,370,809
October 0.644 0.459 0.521 35,581,196 19,826,329
November 0.578 0.500 0.520 3,109,242 1,658,370
December 0.550 0.490 0.520 2,495,817 1,251,372
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B. The comparative performance of the company's shares with the general market index
and the industrial index during year 2022
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C. Distribution of shareholding of the Company as at 31 December 2022

According to the company’s article of association, "All shares are nominal and the contribution of
UAE and GCC nationals whether natural persons or legal person(s) wholly owned by UAE
nationals and GCC nationals at any time throughout must not be less than (51%) of the capital.
The percentage of non-UAE nationals and GCC nationals should not exceed (49%).

Shareholder Individual Companies Government Total
Local 67,234,260 16.38% 35,298,237 8.60% 29,819,631 7.26% 132,352,128 32.24%
GCC 58,176,460 14.17% 208,479,408 50.78% - - 266,655,868 64.95%
Arab 9,754,407 2.38% 285,000 0.07% - - 10,039,407 2.45%
Others 1,237,878 0.30% 263,129 0.06% - - 1,501,007 0.36%
Total 136,403,005 33.23% 244,325,774 59.51% 29,819,631 7.26% 410,548,410 %100
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. Shareholders who own (5%) or more of the Company's capital as at 31 December 2022

S/N Name NumbeI:eolijhares %
1 National Investment Co. — Clients (*) 154,225,626 % 37.57
2 Salem Abdulla Salem Al Hosani 32,049,011 % 7.81
3 Government of Rak Al Khaimah 30,000,000 % 7.31
4 Al Salem Limited Company 29,819,631 % 7.26

(*) Al-Khair National Company for Stocks and Real Estate owns 33.89% of the company’s capital
(indirect ownership).

E. Shareholders Distribution according to the volume of ownership as at 31 December 2022

percentage of the

S/N  Share(s) Ownership Sll:l:r?t?glrd(;is Numbcse;‘::e:wned owned Shares of the
Capital
1 Less than 50,000 1,528 9,958,845 %2.43
From 50,000 to less 283 43,703,582 %10.65
than 500,000 T o
From 500,000 to less 49 59.675.608 0014.53
than 5,000,000 T o
4 More than 5,000,000 11 297,210,375 %72.39
Total 1,871 410,548,410 %100
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F. Actions taken on investor relations controls

In accordance with SCA resolution no. (3/Chairman) of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock
Companies Governance Guide and the decisions and circulars issued by the authority related to
the controls of investor relations, and based on the keenness of the Gulf Cement Company to build
an industrial edifice that is a partner in development Sustainable to achieve ambitious aspirations
for the future and keep pace with the highest international quality standards, and the optimal
application of the rules and regulations in force in this regard, the company has strengthened the
role of investor relations management and defining its tasks and activating the best ways to
communicate with the company, It has also developed and updated its website in a complete and
accurate manner to be known as “Investors’ Relation Portal” in which the company through it
seeks to enable investors and those interested in direct access to the latest information, especially
those related to the financial statements, annual reports, dividends and stock prices and other
disclosures.

The "Investor Relations Portal" aims at enhancing channels of communication and encouraging
information exchange to enable investors and financial analysts to reach clear visions in
accordance with the highest standards of transparency and reliability and to provide the latest
information that confirms the extent of compliance with transparency and the application of the
standards of institutional discipline.

Manager of the Investor Relations Department: Ms. Dalya Mohammed Al Shehhi

Phone: +9712027377,+9717 2027378
Fax: +9717 2027280

E-Mail: shares@gulfcement.ae

Investors Relation Portal: http://www.gulfcement.ae/investor-relations-ar/

G. Special resolutions presented to the General Assembly
The General Assembly, in its meeting '"46" held on March 28, 2022, approved the following:

There are no special resolutions that were presented in the General Assembly “46” which held on
March 28, 2022.

H. Name of the rapporteur of the board meetings and the date of his appointment:

Date Of Qualifications

Name Appointment &
Experiences

Mr. Yasser Ahmed Mohamed Abdullah 2020 Bachelor of Commerce
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[. Major events during 2022

There are no significant or Major events during the year 2022.

J.  The deals that the company made during the year 2022 that are equal to 5% or more of
the company's capital.

Based on the Decision no. (3/Chairman) of 2020 concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies
Governance Guide, it defined the deal as an event affecting the assets of the public joint-stock
company listed on the stock market, its obligations, or its net value from transactions, contracts
or agreements concluded by the company and any other dealings determined by the Authority
from time to time by decisions, instructions or circulars it issues.

Based on what was stated in the above decision, there are no deals or transactions concluded
by the company during the year 2022 that affected its assets, liabilities or net worth.

K. Emiratization percentage in the company

The company takes Emiratization as one of its major importance and considers it one of its
responsibilities. The table below shows the Emiratization percentage as follows:

Year Emiratization
2022 79.8
2021 8.8
2020 78.8

L. Innovative projects and initiatives implemented by the company or which were under
development during 2022.

There are no innovative projects and initiatives undertaken by the company or under development
during 2022.
- RO £0
Sheikh Kayed Omar ALQasimi Mr. Abdulla Mohammed Al Housani
Chairman Head of Audit Committee
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Sheikh Omar Saqr Khaled ALQasimi Ms. Badreyya Mohamed Ali Al-Shehhi
Head of Nomination and Remuneration Committee Internal audit Manager
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